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Certain statements contained in this document, other than statements of fact that are independently verifiable at the date hereof, may constitute 
forward-looking statements. Such statements, based as they are on the current expectations of management, inherently involve numerous risks and 
uncertainties, known and unknown, many of which are beyond BELLUS Health Inc.’s control. Such risks include but are not limited to: the ability to 
obtain financing, the impact of general economic conditions, general conditions in the pharmaceutical industry, changes in the regulatory environment 
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due to consolidation, achievement of forecasted burn rate, potential payments in relation to indemnity agreements, achievement of forecasted clinical 
trial milestones, and that actual results may vary once the final and quality-controlled verification of data and analyses has been completed. In addition, 
the length of KIACTA™ Phase III Confirmatory Study is dependent upon many factors including clinical sites activation, patient enrolment rate, patient 
drop-out rate and occurrence of clinical endpoint events. Consequently, actual future results may differ materially from the anticipated results 
expressed in the forward-looking statements. The reader should not place undue reliance, if any, on any forward-looking statements included in this 
document. These statements speak only as of the date made and BELLUS Health Inc. is under no obligation and disavows any intention to update or 
revise such statements as a result of any event, circumstances or otherwise, unless required by applicable legislation or regulation. Please see BELLUS 
Health Inc.’s public fillings including the Annual Information Form for further risk factors that might affect BELLUS Health Inc. and its business.
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Dear Shareholders,  

We made substantial progress in 2013 in the KIACTA™ Phase III Confirmatory Study, the Company’s 

lead project. During the year, recruitment reached 200 patients, and we expect to reach our 
recruitment target of 230 patients in the second quarter of 2014.  

KIACTA™ is designed for the treatment of AA amyloidosis, a rare disease that affects the kidneys 

and often rapidly leads to dialysis and death. The Phase III Confirmatory Study is a trial designed to 
measure the potential of KIACTA™ to delay the occurrence of certain events linked to the 
deterioration of the kidney function. The Phase III Confirmatory Study will conclude when 120 patients 
experience such an event of kidney function deterioration. We announced in January 2014 that more 
than 40 patients have had an event. We expect to reach 120 events and the conclusion of the study 
in 2016. 

Over the course of the last year, we have also made important decisions about our business in order 
to generate greater shareholder value. We chose to become a Company exclusively focused on 
developing drugs for rare diseases. We believe this is an exciting and lucrative area to be developing 
new drugs. Furthermore, we believe we have the ability and experience to efficiently execute rare 
disease projects.  

Significant Benefits in Developing Rare Disease Drugs 

Approximately 350 million people in the world – including 30 million people in the United States – 
have a rare disease. Yet only about five percent of these patients have a specific therapy to treat their 
disease of which the vast majority are life threatening. Rare diseases are an area of drug 
development that has high unmet medical need and we are motivated to develop products that can 
help these patients lead healthier lives.  

We believe rare disease drug development can also be lucrative for shareholders. There are several 
commercial factors that support this including premium pricing and efficient commercialization 
models. In addition, legislative incentives in the United States, Europe and Japan provide market 
protection from generics and faster regulatory reviews.  

At BELLUS Health, we have more than 15 years of experience working in rare disease drug 
development. We believe that we have the right experience and expertise to design and generate 
value from rare disease drug development projects.   

New Rare Disease Projects 

In 2013, we started two new rare disease projects.  

The first is Shigamab™ for Shiga Toxin E.coli-related Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome (or sHUS). sHUS 
is a condition caused by toxin releasing E. coli that principally affects children. It primarily affects the 
kidneys and can lead to dialysis and result in chronic kidney disease and death in certain cases. We 
are currently conducting preclinical animal testing to support moving Shigamab™ into a Phase II 
proof-of-concept study in humans.  

The second is a research project for AL amyloidosis. AL amyloidosis is a rare and fatal disease 
caused by the buildup of immunoglobulin light chain proteins in various organs including the kidneys. 
These proteins lead to multiple organ failure and eventually death. We have partnered with 
AmorChem Holdings, a Montreal-based fund, to develop new drug candidates to treat this disease.  
  



Strong Business Focus and Financial Base 

In order to entirely focus on rare disease projects, we exited two non-core projects in 2013. We sold 
VIVIMIND™, a nutraceutical to protect memory function, for more than $2 million or approximately 
four times its annual revenue stream. We licensed BLU8499, a Phase I drug candidate for 
Alzheimer’s disease, to Alzheon Inc., a U.S. based company focused on developing drugs for 

Alzheimer’s disease. In return, BELLUS Health shareholders will receive a portion of any future 
revenues generated by BLU8499.  

These transactions also make us financially stronger. We concluded 2013 with a cash position of 
$15.3 million. With our low burn rate and prudent spending, we anticipate that we have enough cash 
to last us more than 12 months past the end of the KIACTA™ Phase III Confirmatory Study.  

Building Shareholder Value 

In 2013, we executed on our operational plan to keep driving KIACTA™’s Phase III Confirmatory 
Study forward and our strategic plan to be focused on developing drugs for rare diseases. We are 
highly motivated to build greater value for our shareholders and believe we are on the right track to do 
so. We appreciate your continued support.   
 

Sincerely, 

 
Roberto Bellini 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  

BELLUS Health Inc. (and its subsidiaries, including BHI Limited Partnership, together referred to as 
BELLUS Health or the Company) is a drug development company focused on rare diseases. It has a 
portfolio of rare disease projects including lead program KIACTA™ in Phase III for AA amyloidosis, 

clinical stage ShigamabTM for STEC-related Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome (sHUS) and a research-stage 
project for AL amyloidosis. The Company's shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) under 
the symbol BLU. 

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) provides a review of the Company’s operations 

and financial performance for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. It should be read in 
conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). Additional information relating to the Company, including its Annual Report and 
Annual Information Form, as well as other public filings, is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
This document contains forward-looking statements, which are qualified by reference to, and should be 
read together with the “Forward-Looking Statements” cautionary notice, which can be found at the end 
of this MD&A. 

References herein to BELLUS Health’s business and operations include activities prior to May 25, 2012, 
date of the strategic partnership, financing and capital reorganization, described in the Business 
Overview section below, on the basis that such historical business and operations have been continued 
by the Company. 

The consolidated financial statements and MD&A have been reviewed by the Company’s Audit 

Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. This MD&A was prepared by management with 
information available as at February 25, 2014. 

All currency figures reported in the consolidated financial statements and in this document are in 
Canadian dollars, unless otherwise specified.  

 

BUSINESS OVERVIEW  

During 2013, the Company continued the implementation of its business plan, by expanding its pipeline 
and becoming a more focused company, concentrating on rare diseases. The development of 
KIACTA™, the lead rare disease program for the treatment of AA amyloidosis, continued moving 

forward in the Phase III Confirmatory Study, while the Company expanded its rare disease pipeline and 
divested non-core assets. Based on management’s estimate, the Company’s current cash position 

should enable the Company to finance its operations beyond the end of the KIACTA™ Phase III 

Confirmatory Study, expected to be completed in 2016. 
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Pipeline of rare disease projects 

The current status of the Company’s principal projects is as follows: 

Disease indication Drug candidate  Stage of development 

AA amyloidosis KIACTATM (1)  Phase III clinical trial   
  

sHUS  ShigamabTM               Pre-Phase II clinical trial  

AL amyloidosis N/A          Research  
 
(1) See below for details on the asset and license agreement signed in April 2010 in relation to KIACTA™. 

KIACTA™ 

KIACTA™ is an orally bioavailable small molecule intended for the treatment of AA amyloidosis, an 
orphan indication resulting in renal dysfunction that often rapidly leads to dialysis and death. The 
disease occurs in a subset of patients with long-lasting inflammatory conditions, such as rheumatic 
diseases, Familial Mediterranean Fever and Crohn’s disease, in addition to certain chronic infectious 

diseases, such as tuberculosis and chronic bronchiectasis. Approximately 65% of AA amyloidosis 
patients are first diagnosed with rheumatic diseases. There is currently no available treatment for AA 
amyloidosis.  

During 2013, recruitment continued for the Phase III Confirmatory Study for KIACTA™. The study is 

designed to confirm the safety and efficacy of KIACTA™ in preventing renal function decline in patients 
diagnosed with AA amyloidosis. KIACTA™’s safety and efficacy were demonstrated in a previous 

Phase II/III study, as discussed below. The Phase III Confirmatory Study is the last key step before 
applications for regulatory approval for KIACTA™ can be filed. The study is expected to enroll 
approximately 230 patients from more than 70 sites in 30 countries worldwide. On January 9, 2014, the 
Company announced that approximately 200 patients had been enrolled in the study. Recruitment is 
expected to be completed in the second quarter of 2014.  

The Phase III Confirmatory Study is an event-driven trial which will conclude when 120 patients have 
experienced an event linked to deterioration of kidney function. An event is counted when a patient's 
kidney function has deteriorated as measured by a persistent 80 per cent increase in serum creatinine, 
a persistent 40 per cent decrease in creatinine clearance or reaching end stage renal disease. On 
January 9, 2014, the Company announced that more than 40 patients have had an event. Based on 
current recruitment and event rates, the KIACTA™ Phase III Confirmatory Study is expected to 

conclude in 2016. 

KIACTA™ is partnered with global private equity firm Auven Therapeutics (previously Celtic 
Therapeutics) following an asset sale and license agreement signed in 2010, pursuant to which Auven 
Therapeutics acquired and licensed worldwide rights related to KIACTA™ and made upfront payments 

to the Company totalling US$10 million in 2010. Auven Therapeutics is conducting the KIACTA™ study 

and funding 100% of the development costs of KIACTA™, including the Phase III Confirmatory Study 
and other related activities, which total costs are currently estimated to be in excess of US$50 million.  
In conjunction with the asset sale and license agreement, a service agreement was entered into 
between the parties, pursuant to which BELLUS Health is compensated to provide support and 
assistance to Auven Therapeutics in connection with their development plan for KIACTA™.  
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Overall proceeds from potential future revenue of KIACTA™ will be shared between Auven 
Therapeutics and BELLUS Health based on a pre-agreed formula included in the asset sale and license 
agreement, and it is currently expected that they will be shared approximately equally between the 
parties. 

As part of the Phase III Confirmatory Study, there are periodic meetings of the Data Safety Monitoring 
Board (DSMB), which independently assesses the safety of KIACTA™ throughout the study. Based on 
its last review in October 2013, the DSMB recommended that the study continue as per protocol.  

Patients completing the Phase III Confirmatory Study will be offered to continue in an extended 
program, for which the first patients are expected to be enrolled in the first quarter of 2014. 

KIACTA™ has been granted Orphan Drug Designation in the US and received Orphan Medicinal 

Product designation in Europe, which provide for market exclusivity of seven and ten years, 
respectively, once the drug is approved, as well as a reduction in application and review fees. 
KIACTA™ has also received Orphan Drug Designation in Switzerland. In July 2013, the Company 
announced that KIACTA™ was granted Orphan Disease Drug Status in Japan. As a result, KIACTA™ 

will receive priority review from Japanese regulatory authorities as a New Drug Application, once it is 
submitted. In addition, the drug will be granted 10 years of market exclusivity as a treatment for patients 
with AA amyloidosis. The Company also announced that a Japanese government research 
organization had granted up to the equivalent of $500,000 towards KIACTA™ clinical development 
expenses incurred in Japan. Five clinical sites in Japan are currently participating in the global Phase 
III Confirmatory Study for KIACTA™.  

In July 2013, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) granted a U.S. Patent offering 
strengthened intellectual property protection for KIACTA™. The patent, which will expire in 2026 with 

a possible extension available up to 2031, covers the dosing regimen of daily administration of 
KIACTA™ relative to AA Amyloidosis patients’ kidney impairment. The patent has also been granted 
in Canada, Australia and certain countries in Eurasia. 

KIACTA™ was previously investigated in a landmark international, randomized, double-blind, placebo-
controlled, and parallel-designed clinical trial in which 183 AA amyloidosis patients were enrolled at 27 
sites around the world. The results of the Phase II/III study demonstrated that KIACTA™ offers 

important clinical benefits to patients by reducing the progression of AA amyloidosis-associated renal 
disease. The primary endpoint analysis of this study demonstrated a 42% reduction in the risk of 
reaching kidney dysfunction events. The Phase II/III study also deemed KIACTA™ to be safe and well 
tolerated. These results were published in the June 7, 2007 issue of the New England Journal of 
Medicine (Volume 356, no.23). Following regulatory discussions with both the US Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) in 2007, it was determined to proceed 
with a confirmatory phase III study.  
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ShigamabTM - Acquisition of Thallion Pharmaceuticals Inc. 

On August 15, 2013, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
Thallion Pharmaceuticals Inc. (Thallion), for a purchase price of $6.266 million in cash or $0.1889 per 
common share (on a fully-diluted basis, including stock options) and the issuance of one contingent 
value right (CVR) per common share. The transaction was done by way of a court approved plan of 
arrangement.  

Thallion is a biotechnology company developing pharmaceutical products in the areas of infectious 
disease and oncology. Thallion’s lead clinical program Shigamab™ is a monoclonal antibody therapy 

being developed for the treatment of sHUS bacterial infections. sHUS principally affects the kidneys 
and often leads to acute dialysis, and in certain cases chronic kidney disease and death, primarily in 
children. Shigamab™ has recently completed a Phase II clinical trial where it was shown to be safe 
and well tolerated in the target pediatric population. The Company estimates that there are 
approximately 2,000 to 3,000 annual cases of sHUS in developed countries, principally in children, with 
market opportunity between 150 and 200 million dollars. 

This transaction added to BELLUS Health's pipeline a clinical stage drug candidate in a rare disease 
indication and increased the Company’s cash and short-term investments position by more than $1.1 
million, Thallion having cash and short-term investments of approximately $7.4 million on closing of the 
transaction.  

The CVRs issued to Thallion’s shareholders entitle the holder thereof to: (A) its pro rata share of 100% 

of any additional purchase price consideration to be received from Premium Brands Holding Corp. 
(Premium Brands) in 2016 (total amount receivable estimated by management to be up to 
approximately $1.5 million, or $0.0404 per CVR), (B) its pro rata share of 5% of the Shigamab™ 

revenue generated or received by BELLUS Health, capped at $6.5 million (or $0.1812 per CVR) and 
(C) its pro rata share of 100% of any net proceeds generated from the licensing, selling or otherwise 
commercializing of (i) diagnostic products or services using certain Caprion Proteomics Inc. products, 
and (ii) all issued patents or pending patents pertaining to such Caprion Proteomics Inc. products, in 
respect of which Thallion has an ownership interest or monetary entitlement. The amount to which the 
holders of CVRs may be entitled can be reduced for potential contingent liabilities owing by Thallion 
(including, but not limited to, in respect of the indemnity agreement with Premium Brands (discussed in 
the Financial Condition – Contractual Obligations section below) , accounts payable or litigation).  

In accordance with the terms of the plan of arrangement, BELLUS Health applied to list the CVRs on 
the TSX, which request was rejected. Therefore, the CVRs will not be listed on a stock exchange. 

The Company intends to proceed with proof of concept testing for treatment of sHUS in mouse and 
primate models within the next twelve months, then intends to meet with regulators to agree on a 
development plan and seek a partner to pursue the development of Shigamab™.  
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Co-development agreement for AL amyloidosis 

On October 25, 2013, BELLUS Health entered into an agreement with AmorChem Holdings Inc. 
(AmorChem) to develop drug candidates for the treatment of AL amyloidosis. As part of the co-
development agreement, BELLUS Health will provide proof-of-concept data, know-how and expertise.  
AmorChem will fund the synthesis of compounds and the biological testing to confirm the potential of 
these compounds in established models of AL amyloidosis. Upon completion of the co-development 
efforts, BELLUS Health will have an exclusive, time-limited option to buy out AmorChem’s rights in the 

project.  

AL amyloidosis is a rare disease in which immunoglobulin amyloid light chain proteins build up in 
various parts of the body, mainly the kidneys, heart, liver and peripheral nerves. As these proteins 
accumulate, they disrupt the structure and function of the affected tissues and organs leading to organ 
failure and eventually, death. The median survival time of patients with AL amyloidosis is one to two 
years from diagnosis. Currently, there is no specific treatment for the disease; patients are treated with 
high dose chemotherapy or stem cell transplant. AL amyloidosis affects approximately 15,000 patients 
in the United States and Europe. 

VIVIMIND™ and BLU8499 divestiture 

On October 22, 2013, BELLUS Health divested two non-core assets, VIVIMIND™, a natural health 

product for memory protection, and BLU8499, a drug candidate for the treatment of central nervous 
system diseases including Alzheimer's disease. 

BELLUS Health licensed the VIVIMIND™ worldwide rights to FB Health S.p.A (FB Health) for cash 
consideration of more than $2 million to be received over the next four years. FB Health is an Italy-
based distributor of specialty natural health and pharmaceutical products targeting neurologists and 
geriatricians.  

BELLUS Health also entered into a worldwide license agreement with FB Health for BLU8499 and a 
family of analogs, along with an associated platform of chemotypes and clinical datasets, in exchange 
for an equity stake in FB Health. In turn, FB Health sublicensed all its rights to Alzheon Inc. (Alzheon), 
as part of an exclusive worldwide license, excluding Italy. BELLUS Health will receive a portion of all 
future payments received by Alzheon related to BLU8499 and royalties on net sales of BLU8499. 
Alzheon is a clinical-stage biotechnology company focused on brain health, memory and aging, 
developing the next generation of medicines for Alzheimer’s and other neurodegenerative diseases.  

BELLUS Health also concurrently announced the termination of its agreement with Asclepios 
Bioresearch (UK) Limited for the development of BLU8499.  
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Strategic Partnership, Financing and Capital Reorganization in May 2012 

On May 25, 2012, BELLUS Health Inc., a company incorporated in June 1993 under the Canada 
Business Corporations Act and now named 2930862 Canada Inc. (Old BELLUS), entered into a 
strategic partnership and financing agreement with Pharmascience Inc. (Pharmascience). 
Pharmascience paid a total of $17.25 million, including $8.15 million in non-dilutive capital for 100% of 
Old BELLUS outstanding common shares and $9.1 million for a 10.4% ownership stake in BHI Limited 
Partnership (BHI LP), a newly-created partnership operated by a new public company (New BELLUS), 
owned by Old BELLUS's former security holders. The transaction was put in place through a plan of 
arrangement (the Plan of Arrangement). 

Under the terms of the Plan of Arrangement, Old BELLUS transferred its business and operations, 
including substantially all of its assets and liabilities, to BHI LP, which is owned at 89.6% by New 
BELLUS and at 10.4% by Pharmascience. Immediately before the transaction with Pharmascience,   
all outstanding convertible securities of Old BELLUS, namely convertible notes issued in 2009 (2009 
Notes), convertible notes issued in 2006 and 2007, and amended in 2009 (2006 and 2007 Notes) and 
preferred shares were settled through the issuance of Old BELLUS common shares and by the 
issuance of an amended note ranking equally with Old BELLUS common shares (and convertible into 
New BELLUS common shares in 2016) (the Amended Note). In addition, the former security holders of 
Old BELLUS exchanged their common shares on a one-for-one basis for New BELLUS common 
shares.  

Pharmascience has the right to exchange its interest in BHI LP for 6,350,640 New BELLUS common 
shares (the Exchange Right) at any time. On or after September 30, 2016, New BELLUS has the right 
to have Pharmascience exercise the Exchange Right. 

New BELLUS, the reporting entity following May 25, 2012, in replacement to Old BELLUS, carried on 
its business operations under the name "BELLUS Health Inc.", and its common shares are listed with 
the same "BLU" symbol on the TSX. The senior management of Old BELLUS continued with New 
BELLUS.  

Further to the Plan of Arrangement, unrecognized tax attributes of Old BELLUS in relation to its 
research and development expenses, federal research and development investment tax credits and 
tax losses carried forward generated from its business through May 25, 2012, are no longer available 
to New BELLUS.  

On May 29, 2012, New BELLUS common shares were consolidated on the basis of one new post-
consolidation common share for every 30 pre-consolidation common shares. As a result, all issued and 
outstanding common shares, stock options, deferred share units, preferred share conversion ratio and 
per share amounts that are prior to May 29, 2012 and contained in this MD&A as well as in the audited 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, have been retrospectively 
adjusted to reflect the share consolidation. 
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Selected Financial Information  
(In thousands of dollars, except per share data) 

 Years ended December 31 

 2013  2012  2011 

 $  $  $ 

Revenues 2,256  2,298  3,066 

      

Expenses:      

Research and development  1,270  954  1,315 

General and administrative 4,275  4,961  3,543 

 5,545  5,915  4,858 
Results from operating activities              (3,289)                (3,617)  (1,792) 

      

Finance income 846  1,272  13,254 

Finance costs                 (200)              (19,625)                  (8,038) 

Net finance income (costs) 646              (18,353)  5,216 

      

Gain on acquisition 1,672  -  - 

Gain on sale of unrecognized assets                         -  8,150  - 

Other income                         -  650  - 

Net (loss) income                 (971)              (13,170)  3,424 

 

Net (loss) income attributable to: 

Owners of the Company                 (872)              (13,255)  3,424 

Non-controlling interest                   (99)  85  - 

                 (971)              (13,170)  3,424 

      

(Loss) earnings per share – Basic                 (0.02)                  (0.41)  0.39 

Loss per share – Diluted                 (0.02)                (0.41)                     (0.19) 
 
 
 

 
December 31, 

2013  
 December 31, 

2012  
    December 31,  
                  2011 

 $  $  $ 

Total assets 23,630  27,098  12,318 

Total non-current financial liabilities 6,191  8,245  40,599 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Year ended December 31, 2013, compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted to 
$872,000 ($0.02 per share), compared to $13,255,000 ($0.41 per share) for the previous year. The 
decrease in net loss is primarily due to items recorded in 2012 in relation to the strategic partnership, 
financing and capital reorganization that occurred in May 2012, as discussed in the Business Overview 
section, namely a non-cash loss on settlement of convertible securities in the amount of $15,751,000 
(including the change in fair value of the embedded conversion option liability on convertible notes), 
partially offset by a gain on sale of unrecognized assets in the amount of $8,150,000. The decrease is 
also due to a reduction in accretion expense in the amount of $3,566,000 as a result of the settlement 
of convertible securities, as part of the same transaction. In addition, the decrease is attributable to the 
gain on acquisition in the amount of $1,672,000 recorded in 2013 in relation to the acquisition of 
Thallion. 

Revenues amounted to $2,256,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $2,298,000 
for the previous year. Revenues mainly consist of revenue recognized for accounting purposes from 
the asset sale and license agreement as well as the service agreement entered into with Auven 
Therapeutics in 2010 for KIACTA™. The decrease is mainly due to lower revenue recognized for 
accounting purposes in relation to agreements entered into with Auven Therapeutics, following the 
review and extension of management’s estimate of the KIACTA™ development phase period during 
the fourth quarter of 2012. This revenue is recognized over the estimated period of the development 
phase. Revenue adjustments in relation to a change in the life of the agreement are recognized 
prospectively. The decrease is partially offset by an increase in revenues recorded under the 
agreements for VIVIMIND™ and BLU8499. 

Research and development expenses amounted to $1,270,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013, 
compared to $954,000 for the previous year. The increase is mainly attributable to an expense reversal 
recorded in the previous year in relation to accruals that no longer met the definition of a liability. 

General and administrative expenses amounted to $4,275,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013, 
compared to $4,961,000 for the previous year. The decrease is mainly due to transaction costs 
recorded in the previous year in relation to the strategic partnership, financing and capital reorganization 
that occurred in May 2012, partially offset by transaction costs recorded in 2013 in relation to the 
acquisition of Thallion. 

Finance income amounted to $846,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to 
$1,272,000 for the previous year. The decrease is mainly attributable to a lower increase in the fair 
value of the ABCP Notes in 2013 compared to the previous year.   

Finance costs amounted to $200,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $19,625,000 
for the previous year. The decrease is primarily due a non-cash loss on settlement of convertible 
securities recorded in the previous year in the amount of $15,751,000 (including the change in fair value 
of the embedded conversion option liability on convertible notes) in relation to the strategic partnership, 
financing and capital reorganization that occurred in May 2012. The decrease is also due to a reduction 
in accretion expense on convertible notes in the amount of $3,566,000 as a result of the settlement of 
convertible securities, as part of the same transaction. 
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Gain on acquisition amounted to $1,672,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013, and is in relation 
to the acquisition of Thallion in August 2013 described previously. The gain on acquisition represents 
the difference between the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the 
consideration transferred. 

Gain on sale of unrecognized assets amounted to $8,150,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, 
and is in relation to the non-dilutive capital payment received from Pharmascience as part of the 
strategic partnership, financing and capital reorganization that occurred in May 2012. 

Other income amounted to $650,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012. This income represents 
a payment received from Advanced Orthomolecular Research Inc. (AOR) in 2012 in relation to the 
achievement of a pre-established milestone set in the share purchase agreement entered into at the 
time AOR acquired BELLUS Health's wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary, OVOS Natural Health Inc., 
in December 2010. 

As at December 31, 2013, total assets amounted to $23,630,000, compared to $27,098,000 as at 
December 31, 2012. The decrease is mainly attributable to funds used in operating activities and the 
settlement of a credit facility in 2013. The decrease is partially offset by assets acquired through the 
acquisition of Thallion. As at December 31, 2013, total non-current financial liabilities amounted to 
$6,191,000, compared to $8,245,000 as at December 31, 2012. The decrease is mainly attributable to 
a decrease in credit facilities following the exercise of the put option in 2013 on one of the Company’s 

credit facilities, partially offset by contingent value rights liabilities recorded in relation to the acquisition 
of Thallion. 

Year ended December 31, 2012, compared to the year ended December 31, 2011  

For the year ended December 31, 2012, net loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted to 
$13,255,000 ($0.41 per share), compared to a net income attributable to owners of the Company of 
$3,424,000 ($0.39 per share) for the previous year. The increase in net loss is primarily due to items 
recorded in relation to the strategic partnership, financing and capital reorganization, as discussed in 
the Business Overview section, namely a non-cash loss on settlement of convertible securities in the 
amount of $15,751,000 (including the change in fair value of the embedded conversion option liability 
on convertible notes), partially offset by a gain on sale of unrecognized assets in the amount of 
$8,150,000. In addition, results for the year ended December 31, 2011, include finance income in 
relation to the decrease in the fair value of the embedded conversion option liability on convertible notes 
in the amount of $13,105,000.  

Revenues amounted to $2,298,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to $3,066,000 
for the previous year. Revenues mainly consist of revenue from the asset sale and license agreement 
as well as the service agreement entered into with Auven Therapeutics in April 2010 for KIACTA™. 

Revenues also include revenue from supply agreements in relation to the distribution of VIVIMIND™, 

which provided for minimum expected revenue from the supply of the product by BELLUS Health, 
royalties, as well as sales-based and regulatory milestones. The decrease is primarily due to lower 
revenue recognized for accounting purposes in relation to the agreements entered into with Auven 
Therapeutics for the development of KIACTA™. This revenue is recognized over the estimated period 

of the development phase, which period was revised and extended subsequent to December 31, 2011. 
In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2012, management’s estimate of the development phase period 
was further revised and extended. Revenue adjustments in relation to a change in the life of the 
agreement are recognized prospectively. 
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Research and development expenses amounted to $954,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, 
compared to $1,315,000 for the previous year. The decrease is mainly attributable to a reduction in 
expenses incurred in relation to the BLU8499 Phase I clinical trial for the treatment of Alzheimer’s 

disease, which ended in the first quarter of 2011, and a reduction in the workforce and other cost 
reduction initiatives in 2011.  

General and administrative expenses amounted to $4,961,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, 
compared to $3,543,000 for the previous year. The increase is mainly due to transaction costs incurred 
in relation to the strategic partnership, financing and capital reorganization, described in the Business 
Overview section. 

Finance income amounted to $1,272,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to 
$13,254,000 for the previous year. The decrease is mainly attributable to finance income recorded in 
2011 in relation to the decrease in the fair value of the embedded conversion option liability on the 
convertible notes in the amount of $13,105,000, mainly attributable to the decrease in the Company’s 

share price, partially offset by an increase in the fair value of the ABCP Notes in the amount of 
$1,135,000 recorded in 2012.  

Finance costs amounted to $19,625,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to 
$8,038,000 for the previous year. The increase is primarily due a non-cash loss on settlement of 
convertible securities (including the change in fair value of the embedded conversion option liability on 
convertible notes) in the amount of $15,751,000, recorded in relation to the strategic partnership, 
financing and capital reorganization discussed in the Business Overview section, partially offset by a 
reduction in accretion expense as a result of the settlement of convertible securities, as part of the 
same transaction.  

Gain on sale of unrecognized assets amounted to $8,150,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, 
and is in relation to the non-dilutive capital payment received from Pharmascience as part of the 
strategic partnership, financing and capital reorganization that occurred in May 2012. 

Other income amounted to $650,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012. This income represents 
a payment received from AOR in 2012 in relation to the achievement of a pre-established milestone 
set in the share purchase agreement entered into at the time AOR acquired BELLUS Health's wholly-
owned Canadian subsidiary, OVOS Natural Health Inc., in December 2010. 

As at December 31, 2012, total assets amounted to $27,098,000, compared to $12,318,000 as at 
December 31, 2011. The increase is mainly attributable to funds received from the strategic partnership 
and financing agreement with Pharmascience in 2012, whereby Pharmascience paid a total of $17.25 
million to BELLUS Health. As at December 31, 2012, total non-current financial liabilities amounted to 
$8,245,000, compared to $40,599,000 as at December 31, 2011. The decrease is mainly attributable 
to the settlement of convertible securities as part of the strategic partnership, financing and capital 
reorganization in 2012, for which carrying value in non-current financial liabilities amounted to $31.8 
million as at December 31, 2011. 
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Fourth quarter (unaudited) 

For the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2013, net loss attributable to owners of the Company 
amounted to $507,000 ($0.01 per share), compared to $327,000 ($0.01 per share) for the 
corresponding quarter the previous year. The increase in net loss is primarily due to higher research 
and development expenses and lower finance income, partially offset by an increase in revenues.  

Revenues amounted to $746,000 for the quarter ended December 31, 2013, compared to $540,000 for 
the corresponding quarter the previous year. The increase is mainly due to revenues recorded under 
the agreements for VIVIMIND™ and BLU8499. 

Research and development expenses amounted to $309,000 for the quarter ended December 31, 
2013, compared to $59,000 for the corresponding quarter the previous year. The increase is mainly 
attributable to an expense reversal recorded in the previous year in relation to accruals that no longer 
met the definition of a liability.  

Finance income amounted to $273,000 for the quarter ended December 31, 2013, compared to 
$323,000 for the corresponding quarter the previous year. The decrease is mainly due to a lower 
increase in the fair value of the ABCP Notes in the fourth quarter of 2013 compared to the corresponding 
quarter the previous year. 

 

Quarterly results (unaudited) 
(in thousands of dollars, except per share data) 
 

     

Quarter Revenues 

Net (loss)  
income 

attributable to 
owners of the 

Company 
 

Basic 
(loss) 

earnings 
per share 

Diluted loss 
per share 

 $ $ $ $ 
Year ended December 31, 2013     
Fourth 746 (507) (0.01) (0.01) 
Third 528 1,039 0.02 0.02 
Second 383 (867) (0.02) (0.02) 
First 599 (537) (0.01) (0.01) 
     

Year ended December 31, 2012     
Fourth 540 (327) (0.01) (0.01) 
Third 484 (256) (0.01) (0.01) 
Second 706 (9,479) (0.39) (0.39) 
First 568 (3,193) (0.33) (0.33) 
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The following explains the variation of the net (loss) income attributable to owners of the Company for 
a quarter compared to the corresponding quarter of the previous year. The increase in net loss for the 
fourth quarter ended December 31, 2013, is primarily due to higher research and development 
expenses and lower finance income, partially offset by an increase in revenues. The increase in net 
income for the third quarter ended September 30, 2013, is primarily due to a gain recognized in relation 
to the acquisition of Thallion. The decrease in net loss for the second quarter ended June 30, 2013, is 
primarily due to items recorded in the corresponding quarter the previous year in relation to the strategic 
partnership, financing and capital reorganization, namely a non-cash loss on settlement of convertible 
securities, partially offset by a gain on sale of unrecognized assets. The decrease in net loss for the 
first quarter ended March 31, 2013, is primarily due to a reduction in accretion expense and change in 
fair value of embedded conversion option liability on convertible notes following the settlement of 
convertible securities, as part of the strategic partnership, financing and capital reorganization that 
occurred in May 2012.  

 

Related party transactions 

Dr. Francesco Bellini is the Chairman of the Board of Directors and provides ongoing advisory services 
to the Company under the terms of a consulting and services agreement between the Company and 
Picchio International Inc. (Picchio International), wholly-owned by Dr. Francesco Bellini and his spouse.  

Picchio International receives a monthly fee of $20,833, plus reimbursement of applicable expenses 
for services rendered under the agreement. The agreement has a one year term and shall renew for 
successive one year terms. The Company recorded fees and expenses under the consulting and 
services agreement of $381,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 ($381,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2012). 

In October 2013, BELLUS Health entered into an agreement to license VIVIMIND™ worldwide rights 

to FB Health. BELLUS Health also entered into a worldwide license agreement with FB Health for 
BLU8499 and a family of analogs, along with an associated platform of chemotypes and clinical 
datasets. In turn, FB Health sublicensed all its rights to BLU8499 as part of an exclusive worldwide 
license, excluding Italy, to Alzheon. An independent committee of the BELLUS Health Board of 
Directors was put in place to review and consider the transactions. They are considered to be “related 

party transactions” under IFRS. FB Health is controlled by Dr. Francesco Bellini, the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of BELLUS Health. Alzheon is controlled by Dr. Martin Tolar, a member of the Board 
of Directors of BELLUS Health. The independent committee was formed of independent members of 
the BELLUS Health Board of Directors. It was chaired by Mr. Charles Cavell and also included Mr. 
Donald Olds and Mr. Pierre Larochelle. The independent committee found the transactions fair and 
unanimously recommended their approval to the BELLUS Health Board of Directors, which voted 
unanimously in favour of the transactions, excluding Dr. Bellini and Dr. Tolar who declared their interest 
and recused themselves. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recorded revenues of 
$213,000 under the VIVIMIND™ license agreement, as well as revenues of $169,000 under the 
BLU8499 license agreement. Refer to Business Overview section for details.  
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In 2010, the Company entered into a license and supply agreement in relation to the distribution of 
VIVIMIND™ in Italy with FB Health. The Company recorded revenues of $159,000 under this 
agreement for the year ended December 31, 2013 ($301,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012). 
The supply agreement was terminated upon the conclusion of the VIVIMIND™ worldwide rights license 
agreement in October 2013, discussed previously. 

In May 2013, the agreement effective December 1, 2004 with Dr. Francesco Bellini, then Chief 
Executive Officer, to issue up to 7,333 common shares was terminated. The Company did not pay any 
compensation to Dr. Bellini and did not record any expense or income in the consolidated statement of 
loss and other comprehensive loss in regards to the termination of the agreement. 

The Amended Note was issued to a significant influence shareholder of the Company in May 2012, 
under the Plan of Arrangement. 

 

FINANCIAL CONDITION 

Liquidity and capital resources 

As at December 31, 2013, the Company had available cash, cash equivalents and short-term 
investments totaling $15,297,000, compared to $18,569,000 as at December 31, 2012. For the year 
ended December 31, 2013, net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments 
amounted to $3,272,000, compared to a net increase of $13,464,000 for the previous year. 
Furthermore, the Company’s working capital amounted to $13,711,000 as at December 31, 2013, 
compared to $16,978,000 as at December 31, 2012. The decrease in the cash position and working 
capital for the year ended December 31, 2013 is mainly attributable to funds used to finance the 
Company’s operating activities. Also included is an amount of $1,282,000 paid to settle one of the 
Company’s credit facilities in the second quarter of 2013, as explained in the Financing and investing 

activities section below, offset by an amount of $1,148,000 generated from the acquisition of Thallion, 
as discussed previously. The net increase in the cash position in the previous year is attributable to 
funds received from the strategic partnership and financing agreement with Pharmascience in 2012, 
whereby Pharmascience paid a total of $17.25 million to BELLUS Health. 

Based on management’s estimate, the current cash position should enable the Company to finance its 

operations beyond the end of the KIACTA™ Phase III Confirmatory Study. 

To date, the Company has financed its operations primarily through public offerings of common shares, 
private placements, issuance of convertible notes, a sale of non-controlling interest, a sale-leaseback 
transaction, research tax credits, collaboration and research contracts, asset sales, licensing and 
supply agreements, interest and other income. The Company has incurred significant operating losses 
and negative cash flows from operations since inception. As a result of measures implemented by the 
Company in the past years, the Company has significantly reduced its required cash outflows. The 
ability of the Company to ultimately achieve future profitable operations is dependent upon obtaining 
regulatory approval in various jurisdictions and successful sale or commercialization of the Company’s 

products and technologies, which is dependent on a number of factors outside of the Company’s 

control.  

The Company continues to explore opportunities in order to expand its pipeline, including through 
acquisitions and/or in-licensing.  
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Refer to Financial condition – Contractual obligations and Financial risk management – Liquidity risk 
sections for further details on liquidity and capital resources of the Company. 

 

Financing and investing activities 

In April 2013, the Company exercised the put option on one of its credit facilities, which reduced both 
the aggregate credit facilities and nominal value of the related ABCP Notes by $3,087,000 
(US$3,009,000). Upon the exercise of the put option, the Company transferred to the bank ownership 
of the MAV3 IA Tracking Notes, and paid an amount of $1,282,000 (US$1,250,000) to settle the credit 
facility. The settlement of the facility for $1,805,000 (US$1,759,000) by exercise of the put option is a 
non-cash transaction, therefore excluded from the consolidated statement of cash flows.The put option 
exercise will enable the Company to save more than $200,000 in future interest payments.  

On August 15, 2013, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
Thallion for a purchase price of $6,266,000 in cash and the issuance of one CVR per common share. 
At the date of acquisition, Thallion had cash of $6,664,000 and short-term investments of $750,000. 
Refer to Business Overview section for details.  

On May 25, 2012, Old BELLUS entered into a strategic partnership and financing agreement with 
Pharmascience, under which Pharmascience paid a total of $17.25 million, including $8.15 million in 
non-dilutive capital for 100% of Old BELLUS outstanding common shares and $9.1 million for a 10.4% 
ownership stake in BHI LP. Refer to Business Overview section for details.  

In 2007, Canadian third party asset-backed commercial paper (ABCP) market was hit by a liquidity 
disruption. In January 2009, ABCP was restructured by the Pan-Canadian Investors Committee. 
Pursuant to the terms of the restructuring plan, holders of ABCP had their short-term notes exchanged 
for longer-term notes (ABCP Notes).  

As at December 31, 2013, the Company held ABCP Notes having notional value of $5,747,000, 
consisting of $2,299,000 of MAV2 Class A-1 Notes, $2,772,000 of MAV2 Class A-2 Notes, $503,000 
of MAV2 Class B Notes, as well as $173,000 of MAV2 Class C Notes. During the year ended December 
31, 2013, the Company received partial payments for capital of $67,000, and for interest of $41,000 
(2012 - $479,000 and $72,000, respectively).  

In 2009, in connection with the restructuring of the ABCP market, the Company entered into secured 
revolving credit facilities with the chartered bank that sold the ABCP to the Company. These facilities 
mature in April 2015, with options to renew until April 2016. As at December 31, 2013, these credit 
facilities have a combined maximum aggregate available amount of $5,188,000, which was fully drawn 
($8,245,000 as at December 31, 2012), bear interest at prime rate minus 1% per annum (weighted 
average effective interest rate was 2.24% in 2013 (2012 - 2.27%)). The amount and availability of these 
credit facilities decreases as capital payments are received on the ABCP Notes. The credit facilities are 
secured by ABCP Notes issued to the Company, on the securities accounts in which they are held and 
on all proceeds of these notes. In addition, a portion of these credit facilities and all other obligations of 
the Company towards the chartered bank are secured by a hypothec on the universality of the 
Company’s assets in the amount of approximately $1,800,000. As at December 31, 2013, the revolving 
credit facilities also include a put option feature which may limit the Company’s losses to 55% of the 

ABCP Notes notional value, subject to certain conditions. 
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The investments in ABCP Notes are measured at fair value in the consolidated financial statements. 
As at December 31, 2013, the Company estimated the fair value of the ABCP Notes at $5,187,000, of 
which $582,000 is presented in current assets, as the Company expects to dispose of these notes in 
the upcoming year, and $4,605,000 as non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheet 
($6,547,000 as at December 31, 2012, of which $531,000 is presented as non-current Restricted cash 
as it was pledged to a bank as collateral for a letter of credit issued in connection with a lease 
agreement). In connection with its fair value determination, the Company recorded an increase in fair 
value of $499,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 - increase of $1,135,000), which is 
presented in Finance income in the consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive loss. As 
at December 31, 2013, the Company estimated the fair value of the ABCP Notes by considering 
broker/dealer quotes. As at December 31, 2012, the fair value determination also took into 
consideration the value of the put option exercised in April 2013, as described above.  Estimates of the 
fair value of the ABCP Notes are not supported by active market prices or rates, and therefore are 
subject to uncertainty. The resolution of this uncertainty could be such that the ultimate fair value of 
these investments may vary significantly from the Company’s current estimate. Changes in the near-
term could require significant changes in the recognized amount of these assets. As the Company 
records the ABCP Notes at fair value each reporting period, such adjustments will directly impact 
income. 

As at December 31, 2013, the Company is contingently liable for a letter of credit in the amount of 
$138,000, which will be reduced to $50,000 in 2014. Cash is pledged under this letter of credit and is 
presented as Restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2013. 

In October 2013, this letter of credit was reduced from $465,000 to $138,000, and ABCP Notes pledged 
to a bank as collateral for the letter of credit became available for sale. In turn, the Company put an 
additional $88,000 in cash as collateral to the letter of credit.  

During 2013, the Company sold short-term investments having maturities greater than three months 
and less than a year, which amounted to $4,556,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 (purchase 
of $7,824,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012). 

During 2012, the Company received a $650,000 payment from AOR in relation to the achievement of 
a pre-established milestone, as discussed in the Results of Operations section above. 

Other  

In accordance with the Plan of Arrangement of May 2012 described in the Business Overview section 
and the choice made by the note holders, all convertible securities then outstanding were settled 
through the issuance of common shares of the Company, with the exception of a portion of the 2009 
Notes, for which the option to amend the terms of the convertible notes was exercised (the Amended 
Note). 
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The following are the terms of the Amended Note, ranking pari passu with the common shares:  

(i) the maturity date of the Amended Note was extended to January 1, 2016;  

(ii) the Amended Note has a notional amount of $10,930,000 and does not bear interest. The Amended 
Note is classified in Other Equity in the consolidated balance sheet;  

(iii) the Amended Note is payable at maturity in cash or into 7,286,828 common shares of the Company 
(on the basis of the fixed conversion price as per the Plan of Arrangement, subject to customary 
anti-dilution provisions);  

(iv) on maturity, any of BELLUS Health or the note holder may require the Amended Note to be paid in 
common shares of the Company; and  

(v) the Amended Note will be automatically converted into BELLUS Health common shares upon a 
change of control or liquidity events, as defined in the Plan of Arrangement. 

As at February 25, 2014, the Company had 47,426,358 common shares outstanding and 65,658,826 
common shares on a fully diluted basis. Dilution items, subject to customary anti-dilution provisions, 
are as follows: 

 7,286,828 common shares that may be issuable upon the settlement of the Amended Note on 
January 1, 2016; 

 6,350,640 common shares issuable upon the exercise of Pharmascience exchange right of its 
10.4% interest in BHI LP (the Exchange Right). Pharmascience has the right to exercise the 
Exchange Right at any time. On or after September 30, 2016, BELLUS Health has the right to have 
Pharmascience exercise the Exchange Right; and 

 4,595,000 stock options granted under the stock option plan. 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, BELLUS Health issued 40,517,923 common shares upon 
settlement of the 2006 Notes, 2007 Notes, 2009 Notes, as well as the preferred shares.  

The completion of the strategic partnership and financing agreement of May 2012 resulted in the vesting 
of all outstanding non-vested stock options of the Company. All outstanding stock options and related 
old stock option plan were then cancelled prior to May 25, 2012, date of the financing and corporate 
reorganization. A new stock option plan was approved, with the same terms as the old stock option 
plan of the Company, in all material respects. During the year ended December 31, 2012, 4,270,000 
stock options were granted from the new stock option plan to key management personnel, and 450,000 
were granted to other employees. During the year ended December 31, 2013, 75,000 stock options 
were granted and 200,000 stock options were forfeited. 
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Contractual Obligations  

As at December 31, 2013, BELLUS Health’s minimum future contractual obligations are principally for 

payments in relation to operating leases, consulting fees for Picchio International, trade and other 
payables, credit facilities as well as contingent consideration from the acquisition of Thallion. Future 
contractual obligations by year of maturity are presented below. 
 

  

Contractual obligations 

(in thousands of dollars) 

Total Less than 
1 year 

2-3 years Greater than 
5 years 

 $ $ $ $ 

Operating leases  276 130 146 Nil 
Consulting  fees 250 250 Nil Nil 
Trade and other payables 1,509 1,509 Nil Nil 
Credit facilities (1) 5,427 104 5,323 Nil 
Contingent consideration (CVRs – On    

receivable from Premium Brands) (2) 

 
933 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

Contingent consideration (CVRs – On 
ShigamabTM future revenues) (3) 

 
70 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
70 

Contingent consideration (CVRs – On 
future revenues from assets developed 
by Caprion Proteomics Inc.) (4) 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

 
 

Nil 

     
(1) Assuming interest calculated at the interest rate in effect at the balance sheet date and notional repayment 

based on available renewal options of the Company. The cash exposure for the Company is the difference 
between the outstanding amount of the credit facilities and the proceeds from the sale of the ABCP Notes.  

(2) Assuming the Company receives in 2016 the additional purchase price consideration from Premium 
Brands estimated by management to amount up to $1,450,000, it would have to pay 100% of the amount 
received to the CVR holders. Amount represents the fair value of the contingent liability as at 
December 31, 2013. As the contingent consideration and contingent right are of the same amount, there 
is no cash exposure for the Company. 

(3) Assuming ShigamabTM generates revenues in the future, BELLUS Health shall pay to CVR holders their 
pro rata share of 5% of the ShigamabTM revenue generated or received by BELLUS Health, capped at 
$6,500,000. Amount represents the fair value of the contingent liability as at December 31, 2013. 

(4) BELLUS Health shall pay to CVR holders 100% of future revenues from assets developed by Caprion 
Proteomics Inc. No value has been attributed to this contingent liability as the Company does not expect 
to receive any revenue from these assets in the future (refer to Business Overview section).  

The Company has not engaged in commodity contract trading or off-balance sheet financing, other 
than in relation to operating leases.  
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The Company is potentially liable in relation to the following indemnity agreements: 

(i) Pursuant to an indemnity agreement entered into between the Company and Pharmascience in 
May 2012 as part of the strategic partnership and financing agreement, the Company agreed to 
indemnify Pharmascience, subject to certain conditions and limitations, for all losses which it may 
suffer or incur, arising out of any debts, liabilities, commitments or obligations of any nature 
resulting from any matters, actions, events, facts or circumstances related to the activities, affairs 
or business of Old BELLUS which occurred prior to the effective time of the Plan of Arrangement, 
including a reduction in tax pools under the Plan of Arrangement. No indemnity provision has been 
recorded by the Company as at December 31, 2013. 

(ii) In July 2009, Thallion (acquired by BELLUS Health in August 2013) was party to an arrangement 
pursuant to which it effectively sold its tax attributes to Premium Brands Holding Corporation (Old 
Thallion) and Premium Brands Income Fund (Premium Brands) in exchange for $8,850,000. 
Pursuant to an indemnity agreement, Thallion agreed to indemnify Premium Brands and Old 
Thallion, subject to certain conditions and limitations, for all losses which they may suffer, sustain, 
pay or incur arising out of, resulting from, attributable to or connected with certain specified 
matters, including with respect to certain reductions of the tax pools, as defined in the indemnity 
agreement, if such reductions result in the tax pools being below $160,000,000. In such case, the 
amount of the indemnity would be 5.5% of the amount by which the adjusted tax pools is less than 
$160,000,000, subject to a cap of $4,425,000, which represents a maximum of 50% of the cash 
received from Premium Brands pursuant to the arrangement. In exchange for such indemnity, 
BELLUS Health is entitled to the additional cash proceeds from Old Thallion equaled to 5.5% of 
the amount, if any, by which the aggregate balance of the tax pools exceeds $170,000,000, which 
amount shall be determined in 2016. In the event BELLUS Health receives an additional purchase 
price consideration from Premium Brands, it would have to pay 100% of the amount received to 
the CVR holders (refer to Business Overview section). No indemnity provision has been recorded 
by the Company as at December 31, 2013, as management does not expect the balance of the 
tax pools to fall below $160,000,000. 

The Company has a letter of credit issued in connection with a lease agreement in the amount of 
$138,000. Cash is pledged under this letter of credit and is presented as restricted cash in the 
consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2013. ABCP Notes are pledged under the credit 
facilities. 

The Company has entered into a number of other agreements, which involve future commitments, 
including agreements with Parteq Research and Development Innovations and the federal Ministry of 
Industry (Technology Partnerships Canada Program). Refer to note 14 of the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 for details. 
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

This section provides disclosures relating to the nature and extent of the Company’s exposure to risks 

arising from financial instruments, including credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and interest 
rate risk, and how the Company manages those risks.  

Credit Risk 

Credit risk results from the possibility that a loss may occur from the failure of another party to perform 
according to the terms of the contract. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to 
significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, short-term 
investments, restricted cash, trade and other receivables, other assets and investments in ABCP Notes. 
The Company invests cash with major North American financial institutions. Cash equivalents and 
short-term investments are comprised of fixed income instruments with a high credit ranking (not less 
than A-1) as rated by Standard and Poor’s. The Company has investment policies that are designed to 

provide for the safety and preservation of principal, the Company's liquidity needs and yields that are 
appropriate. In addition, other assets in the combined amount of $854,000 as at December 31, 2013, 
relate to one customer. As at December 31, 2013, the Company’s maximum credit exposure 

corresponded to the carrying amount of these financial assets. 

Refer to the Liquidity and Capital Resources section for a discussion of credit risk related to investments 
in ABCP Notes. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due.  The Company requires continued access to capital markets to support its operations, as well as 
to achieve its strategic plans. Any impediments to the Company’s ability to continue to meet the 

conditions contained in its credit facilities as well as the Company’s ability to access capital markets, 

including the lack of financing capability or an adverse perception in capital markets of the Company’s 

financial condition or prospects, could have a materially adverse effect on the Company. In addition, 
the Company’s access to financing is influenced by the economic and credit market environment. 
Should the chartered bank not agree to renew the credit facilities, the Company would have a cash 
exposure for the difference between the outstanding amount of the credit facilities and the proceeds 
from the sale of the ABCP Notes.    

The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure, as outlined in 
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 (Capital 
Disclosures). In addition, the Company manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual and 
projected cash flows. The Board of Directors reviews, approves and monitors the Company’s annual 

operating and capital budgets, as well as any material transactions. 
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Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency risk is limited to the portion 
of the Company’s business transactions denominated in currencies other than Canadian dollars. The 
Company’s exposure relates primarily to changes in the Canadian dollar versus the US dollar exchange 

rate. For the Company’s foreign currency transactions, fluctuations in the respective exchange rates 

relative to the Canadian dollar will create volatility in the Company’s cash flows and the reported 

amounts for revenue and expenses in its consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive loss. 
Additional variability arises from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than the Canadian dollar at the rates of exchange at each balance sheet date, the 
impact of which is reported as a foreign exchange gain or loss in the consolidated statement of loss 
and other comprehensive loss. The Company’s objective in managing its foreign currency risk is to 

minimize its net exposures to foreign currency cash flows, by transacting with third parties in the 
Company’s functional currency to the maximum extent possible and practical and holding cash, cash 
equivalents and short-term investments as well as incurring borrowings in its functional currency. The 
Company does not use derivative financial instruments to reduce its foreign exchange exposure. Note 
20 (d) to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, provides 
indication of the Company’s significant foreign exchange currency exposures as at that date.  

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market rates. The Company’s financial instruments exposed to interest rate risk 

are cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, restricted cash, investments in ABCP Notes 
and credit facilities. The risk that the Company will realize a loss as a result of the decline in the fair 
value of its cash equivalents and short-term investments is limited because these investments have 
short-term maturities and are generally held to maturity. The capacity of the Company to reinvest the 
short-term amounts with equivalent returns will be impacted by variations in short-term fixed interest 
rates available in the market.  

The Company has had no interest rate hedging activities during the current year.  
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DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information 
required to be disclosed by the Company in its reports filed with securities regulatory authorities is 
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within prescribed time periods and is accumulated and 
communicated to the Company's management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer are responsible for establishing 

and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be 
disclosed in the reports filed or submitted under securities legislation is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified by applicable securities legislation. The 
design of any system of controls and procedures is based in part upon certain assumptions about the 
likelihood of certain events. There can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its 
stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of how remote. The Company’s Chief 

Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer are assisted in this responsibility by the Company’s 

disclosure committee, which is composed of members of senior management. Based on an evaluation 
of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 

Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of 

December 31, 2013. 

 

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Internal control over financial reporting (ICFR) is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of the Company’s financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 

external purposes in accordance with IFRS. Management, including the Company’s Chief Executive 

Officer and its Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate ICFR. 
The design of any system of controls and procedures is based in part upon certain assumptions about 
the likelihood of certain events. There can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving 
its stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of how remote. Management assessed 
the effectiveness of the Company’s ICFR as of December 31, 2013, based on the framework 
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (1992) by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, the Company’s Chief 

Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s ICFR were effective as 
of December 31, 2013. This MD&A does not include an attestation report of the Company’s auditors 

regarding ICFR. 
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Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting 

In accordance with the Canadian Securities Administrators’ Multilateral Instrument 52-109, the 
Company has filed certificates signed by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, 
that, among other things, report on the design of disclosure controls and procedures and the design of 
internal control over financial reporting.  

There have been no changes in the Company’s ICFR during the year ended December 31, 2013 that 

have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect its ICFR. 

 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
adopt accounting policies and to make certain judgments, estimates and assumptions that the 
Company believes are reasonable based upon the information available at the time these decisions 
are made. These accounting policies, judgments, estimates and assumptions affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses and cash flows during the reporting 
periods. By their nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty and are 
based upon historical experience, trends in the industry and information available from outside sources. 
On an ongoing basis, management reviews its estimates and actual results could differ from estimates.  

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements relate to the determination of the 
separate components and the timing of their recognition in accounting for revenue recognition, the 
determination of accounting for the acquisition of Thallion as a business combination, the evaluation of 
the collectibility of the consideration receivable from FB Health under the VIVIMINDTM license 
agreement, the allocation of the consideration received from Pharmascience in 2012 between the sale 
of unrecognized assets and the sale of a non-controlling interest in BHI LP and the classification of the 
Amended Note as equity.  

The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in note 3 to the consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2013. Management considers that the following 
accounting policies and estimates are more important in assisting an understanding and evaluating the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

Revenue recognition: Revenue from the Company’s different agreements is assessed in order to 
determine whether they contain separately identifiable components. When separation is required, the 
consideration received or receivable is allocated amongst the separate components based on the 
relative fair values of each component. When the fair value of the delivered item is not reliably 
measurable, then revenue is allocated based on the difference between the total arrangement 
consideration and the fair value of the undelivered item. The applicable revenue recognition criteria are 
applied to each of the separate components. Otherwise, the applicable revenue recognition criteria are 
applied to the combined components as a whole. Payments received under agreements may include 
payments received as licensing fees, sale-based royalty payments, upfront payments, regulatory and 
sales-based milestone payments for specific achievements, as well as revenue from the supply of 
products.  
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Revenue for each separately identifiable component is recorded as follows:  

(i) fixed payments received as revenue from intellectual property under licensing agreements are 
recognized into income when conditions and events under the license agreement have been met or 
occurred, the Company has no future involvement or obligations to perform related to the specified 
element of the arrangement and it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Company; 

(ii) sales-based milestone payments and royalty payments, for which the Company has no future 
involvement or obligations to perform related to that specified element of the arrangement, are 
recognized into income upon the achievement of the specified sales level and when it is probable 
that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company; 

(iii) non-refundable upfront payments received on the signing of agreements and regulatory milestone 
payments, which require the Company’s ongoing involvement, are deferred and amortized in income 

on a straight-line basis over the expected period of performance of the related activities, provided 
that revenue subject to the achievement of milestones is recognized only when the specified events 
have occurred and it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow 
to the Company; and 

(iv) revenues from the sale or supply of products are recognized when the Company has transferred to 
the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the products, the Company retains 
neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 
effective control over the products sold, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is 
probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company, and 
the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.  

Amounts received or billed in advance of recognition are presented as deferred revenue. Amounts 
receivable in advance of progress billing are presented as other assets. 

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method. 

Research and development costs consist of direct and indirect expenditures, including a reasonable 
allocation of overhead expenses, associated with the Company's various research and development 
programs. Overhead expenses comprise general and administrative support provided to the research 
and development programs and involve costs associated with support activities. The Company accrues 
clinical trial expenses based on work performed, which relies on estimates of total costs incurred based 
on completion of patient studies and other events. The Company follows this method since reasonable 
dependable estimates of the costs applicable to various stages of a research agreement or clinical trial 
can be made. Accrued clinical costs are subject to revisions as trials progress to completion.   

Research expenditures undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge 
are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures are deferred when they meet the criteria for 
capitalization in accordance with IFRS, and the future benefits could be regarded as being reasonably 
certain. The criteria to be fulfilled in order to capitalize development costs are if such costs can be 
measured reliably, if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, if future economic 
benefits are probable and if the Company intends to and has sufficient resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the asset. As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, no development costs 
were deferred. 
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Investment in FB Health: The Company estimated the fair value of the investment in FB Health by using 
an enterprise valuation method based on a sales multiple. Estimates of the fair value of the investment 
are not supported by active market prices, and therefore are subject to uncertainty. The resolution of 
this uncertainty could be such that the ultimate fair value of the investment may vary significantly from 
the Company’s current estimate. Changes in the near-term could require significant changes in the 
recognized amount of this asset. As the Company records the investment in FB Health at fair value 
each reporting period, such adjustments will directly impact other comprehensive income. 

In-process research and development asset: The Company estimated the fair value of the in-process 
research and development asset related to ShigamabTM by discounting the estimated cash flows based 
on various assumptions. The in-process research and development asset is accounted for as an 
indefinite-lived intangible asset until the project is completed or abandoned, at which point it will be 
amortized or impaired, respectively.  

Stock-based compensation: The Company follows the fair value based method to account for options 
granted to employees, whereby compensation cost is measured at fair value at the date of grant and 
is expensed over the award’s vesting period with a corresponding increase to equity. The fair value of 
each option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model, which 
requires certain assumptions, including the future stock price volatility and expected time to exercise. 
Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility. For stock options 
with graded vesting, the fair value of each tranche is recognized over its respective vesting period. The 
amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related 
service vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognized as an 
expense is based on the number of awards that meet the related service conditions at the vesting date. 
For non-employees, the fair value of the options is remeasured and recognized over the service period. 
When stock options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received, together 
with the related portion previously recorded in other equity, are credited to share capital. Changes to 
any assumptions, or the use of a different option pricing model, could produce different fair values for 
stock-based compensation, which could have a material impact on the Company’s income. 

ABCP Notes:  The Company estimated the fair value of the ABCP Notes by considering broker/dealer 
quotes. Estimates of the fair value of the ABCP Notes are not supported by observable and active 
market prices or rates, and therefore are subject to uncertainty. The resolution of this uncertainty could 
be such that the ultimate fair value of these investments may vary significantly from the Company’s 

current estimate. Changes in the near-term could require significant changes in the recognized amount 
of these assets. As the Company records the ABCP Notes at fair value each reporting period, such 
adjustments will directly impact income. 
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Accounting changes in 2013 

On January 1, 2013, the Company adopted the following new accounting standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB): 

(a) Consolidation: 

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, replaces the guidance in IAS 27, Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements and the interpretation of Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) 
12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities (SPE). The consolidation procedures are carried 
forward substantially unmodified from IAS 27. The application of IFRS 10 did not have a material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

(b) Disclosure of interests in other entities: 

In October 2012, the IASB issued Investment Entities – Amendments to IFRS 12. The amendments 
require information that will assist financial statement users to evaluate the nature, risks and 
financial effects associated with an entity’s interests in subsidiaries. This standard is required to be 
applied for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The adoption of this new 
pronouncement did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements other than 
added disclosure requirements which have been presented in note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements.  

(c) Fair value measurement: 

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in 
individual IFRS with a single source of fair value measurement guidance. It defines fair value as the 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, i.e. an exit price. The application of IFRS 13 
did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.  

Future accounting changes 

Financial Instruments: 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, was issued in November 2009. It addresses classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities. In November 2013, the IASB issued a new 
general hedge accounting standard, which forms part of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (2013). The new 
standard removes the January 1, 2015 prior effective date of IFRS 9. The new mandatory effective date 
will be determined once the classification and measurement and impairment phases of IFRS 9 are 
finalized. The mandatory effective date is not yet determined, however, early adoption of the new 
standard is still permitted. However Canadian reporting entities cannot early adopt IFRS 9 until it has 
been approved by the Canadian Accounting Standards Board. The Company has not yet assessed the 
impact of adoption of IFRS 9. 
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

Since its inception in 1993, BELLUS Health has incurred significant operating losses. The Company’s 

pharmaceutical product candidates are in development and none have yet been approved for 
commercialization by regulatory authorities in any jurisdiction. The Company’s business entails 

significant risks, including the costs and time involved in obtaining the required regulatory approvals, 
the adequacy of patent protection, the uncertainties involved in clinical testing, the availability of capital 
to continue development and commercialization of the products, and competition from pharmaceutical 
and biotechnology companies. 

Significant funding is required for research and development, clinical trials, marketing, commercial 
manufacturing of products and the establishment of sales and marketing teams that may be necessary 
for the launch and sales of new products. In addition, major financial resources are necessary until 
such time as the products are commercialized and sold successfully, and sales are sufficient to 
generate profits. The Company may seek to raise additional funds through public or private financing, 
collaborations agreements with other companies, or financing from other sources. However, there can 
be no assurance that these financing efforts will be successful or that the Company will continue to be 
able to meet its ongoing cash requirements. It is possible that financing will not be available or, if 
available, may not be on favourable terms.  

The availability of financing will be affected by the results of scientific research and clinical development, 
the Company’s ability to obtain regulatory approvals, the market acceptance of the Company’s 

products, the state of the capital markets generally (with particular reference to pharmaceutical, 
biotechnology, nutraceutical and medical companies), the status of strategic alliance agreements, and 
other relevant commercial considerations. 

Product research and development involves a high degree of risk, and returns to investors are 
dependent upon successful development and commercialization of the Company’s products. A setback 

in any of the Company’s clinical trials may cause a drop in the Company’s stock price. Difficulties 

encountered in enrolling patients in the Company’s clinical trials could delay or adversely affect the 

trials. There can be no assurance that development of any product will be successfully completed or 
that regulatory approval of any of the Company’s products under development will be obtained. 
Furthermore, there can be no assurance that existing products or new products developed by 
competitors will not be more effective, or more effectively marketed and sold, than any that may be 
developed by the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company’s future potential products 

will gain market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payers, the medical community 
and consumers.  In addition, given the very high costs of development of pharmaceutical products, the 
Company anticipates having to partner with larger pharmaceutical companies to bring pharmaceutical 
products to market. The terms of such partnership arrangements along with the related financial 
obligations cannot be determined at this time and the timing of completion of the approval of such 
products will likely not be within the Company’s control. 
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Because of the length of time and expense associated with bringing new products through 
development, obtaining regulatory approval and bringing products to market, the Company places 
considerable importance on obtaining and maintaining patent protection and safeguarding trade secret 
protection for significant discoveries. There can be no assurance that any pending patent application 
filed by the Company will mature into an issued patent. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that 
existing or pending patent claims will offer protection against competition, or will not be designed around 
or infringed upon by others. Commercial success will also depend in part on the Company not infringing 
patents or proprietary rights of others. Patent litigation is costly and time consuming and may subject 
the Company to liabilities. 

The Company is currently dependent on third parties for a variety of functions and may enter into future 
collaborations for the development, manufacture and commercialization of products. There is no 
assurance that the arrangements with these third parties will provide benefits the Company expects. 
There can also be no assurance that the Company will be successful in manufacturing, marketing and 
distributing products, or that the Company will be able to make adequate arrangements with third 
parties for such purposes. There can be no assurance that the Company will generate significant 
revenue or achieve profitability. 

The Company may be required to make payments under indemnity agreements entered into with 
Pharmascience and in relation to the acquisition of Thallion. 

A detailed discussion on the Company’s risks and uncertainties can be found in the Company’s public 

filings including the Annual Information Form available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain statements included in this MD&A may constitute “forward-looking statements” within the 

meaning of Canadian securities legislation and regulations, and are subject to important risks, 
uncertainties and assumptions. This forward-looking information may include among other things, 
information with respect to the Company’s objectives and the strategies to achieve these objectives, 

as well as information with respect to the Company’s beliefs, plans, expectations, anticipations, 

estimates, and intentions. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of 
conditional or forward-looking terminology such as “may”, “will”, “expect”, “intend”, “estimate”, 

“anticipate”, “plan”, “foresee”, “believe” or “continue” or the negatives of these terms or variations of 

them or similar terminology. Refer to the Company’s filings with the Canadian securities regulatory 

authorities for a discussion of the various factors that may affect the Company’s future results. Such 

risks include, but are not limited to: the ability to obtain financing, the impact of general economic 
conditions, general conditions in the pharmaceutical industry, changes in the regulatory environment in 
the jurisdictions in which the Company does business, stock market volatility, fluctuations in costs, 
changes to the competitive environment due to consolidation, achievement of the forecasted burn rate, 
potential payments in relation to indemnity agreements, achievement of forecasted clinical trial 
milestones, and that actual results may vary once the final and quality-controlled verification of data 
and analyses has been completed. In addition, the length of KIACTATM Phase III Confirmatory Study is 
dependent upon many factors including clinical sites activation, patient enrollment rate, patient drop-
out rate and occurrence of clinical endpoint events. The results or events predicted in forward-looking 
information may differ materially from actual results or events. The Company believes that expectations 
represented by forward-looking statements are reasonable, yet there can be no assurance that such 
expectations will prove to be correct. Unless otherwise stated, the forward-looking statements 
contained in this report are made as of the date of this report, and the Company does not undertake 
any obligation to update publicly or to revise any of the included forward-looking statements, whether 
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, unless required by applicable legislation or 
regulation. The forward-looking statements contained in this report are expressly qualified by this 
cautionary statement. 
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management and 
approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. The consolidated financial statements were 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and, where appropriate, 
reflect management’s best estimates and judgments. Where alternative accounting methods exist, 

management has chosen those methods deemed most appropriate in the circumstances. Management 
is responsible for the accuracy, integrity and objectivity of the consolidated financial statements within 
reasonable limits of materiality, and for the consistency of financial data included in the text of the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis with the data contained in the consolidated financial 

statements.  

To assist management in the discharge of these responsibilities, the Company maintains a system of 
internal controls over financial reporting as described in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

The Company’s Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors annually and is comprised 

exclusively of outside, independent directors. The Audit Committee meets with management as well as 
with the external auditors to satisfy itself that management is properly discharging its financial reporting 
responsibilities and to review the consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee reports its 
findings to the Board of Directors for consideration in approving the consolidated financial statements 
for presentation to the shareholders. The Audit Committee considers, for review by the Board of 
Directors and approval by the shareholders, the engagement or reappointment of the independent 
auditors. The external auditors, KPMG LLP, have direct access to the Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors. 

The consolidated financial statements have been independently audited by KPMG LLP, Chartered 
Professional Accountants, on behalf of the shareholders, in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Their report outlines the nature of their audits and expresses their opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 

 

     
Roberto Bellini                       François Desjardins, CPA, CA 
President and Chief Executive Officer                       Vice President, Finance 
 
 
Laval, Quebec, Canada 
February 25, 2014 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 

To the Shareholders of BELLUS Health Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of BELLUS Health Inc., which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the 
consolidated statements of loss and other comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 



 
 

*CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No. A119178 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of BELLUS Health Inc. as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 
2012, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

 

 
 

February 25, 2014 

Montreal, Canada 
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BELLUS HEALTH INC. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

   December 31, December 31, 
    2013 2012 
Assets 
 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents (note 6)   $ 11,279 $ 10,745 
Short-term investments (note 6)  4,018 7,824 
Investments in ABCP Notes (note 7)  582 –   
Restricted cash (note 14 (e))  88 –   
Trade and other receivables   174 157 
Prepaid expenses and other assets  831 931 
Total current assets  16,972 19,657 

 

Non-current assets: 
Investments in ABCP Notes (note 7)  4,605 6,016 
Restricted cash (notes 7 and 14 (e))  50 581 
Other assets  1,255 844 
In-process research and development asset (note 5)  542 –   
Investment in FB Health (note 9 (c) (ii))  206 –   
Total non-current assets  6,658 7,441 

 

Total Assets   $ 23,630 $ 27,098 
 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity  
 

Current liabilities: 
Trade and other payables (note 8)   $ 1,581 $ 1,173 
Deferred revenue (note 9)  1,680 1,506 
Total current liabilities  3,261 2,679 

 

Non-current liabilities: 
Credit facilities (note 7)  5,188 8,245 
Deferred revenue (note 9)  3,360 5,098 
Financial liabilities - CVRs (note 5)  1,003 –   
Total non-current liabilities  9,551 13,343 

 

Total Liabilities  12,812 16,022 
 

Shareholders' equity: 
Share capital (note 1 and 10 (b))  418,592 418,592 
Other equity (note 10 (c))  33,346 32,655 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   20 –   
Deficit  (442,263) (441,391) 
Total shareholders’ equity attributable to owners of the Company   9,695 9,856 
 

Non-controlling interest 1,123 1,220 
Total Shareholder’s equity  10,818 11,076 
 

Total Liabilities and Shareholder’s Equity   $ 23,630 $ 27,098 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors by: 

   
 
 
Hélène Fortin  Pierre Larochelle  
Director Director 
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BELLUS HEALTH INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Other Comprehensive Loss 
 
Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012  
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share data) 
 
  Year ended  Year ended 
     December 31, December 31, 
    2013 2012 
       
Revenues (note 9)   $ 2,256 $ 2,298 
 
Expenses: 

Research and development   1,270 954 
General and administrative   4,275 4,961 

Total operating expenses   5,545 5,915 
 

Results from operating activities   (3,289) (3,617) 
 
Finance income    846 1,272 
Finance costs    (200) (19,625) 

Net finance income (costs) (note 12)   646 (18,353) 
 
Gain on acquisition (note 5)   1,672 –   
 
Gain on sale of unrecognized assets (note 1)   –   8,150 
 
Other income (note 13)   –   650 
 
Net loss for the year  (971)  (13,170) 
 
Other comprehensive income (that may be reclassified subsequently to net loss): 
 

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale investment (note 9 (c) (ii))   22 –   

Other comprehensive income for the year  22  –  
 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  $  (949) $ (13,170) 
 
 
Net loss attributable to: 
Owners of the Company $ (872) $ (13,255) 
Non-controlling interest   (99) 85 
  $ (971) $ (13,170) 
 
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: 
Owners of the Company $ (852) $ (13,255) 
Non-controlling interest   (97) 85 
  $ (949) $ (13,170) 
 
Loss per share (note 17): 

Basic and diluted     $             (0.02) $ (0.41) 
 

 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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BELLUS HEALTH INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity  
 
Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
 

   Attributable to owners of the Company   
    Accumulated 
    other    Non- 
  Share Other comprehen-   controlling 
  capital equity sive income Deficit Total interest Total 
  (note 10 (b)) 
 
Balance, December 31, 2012 $ 418,592 $ 32,655 $ –   $ (441,391) $ 9,856 $ 1,220  $ 11,076 
 
Total comprehensive loss  

for the year: 
 Net loss –   –   –   (872) (872) (99) (971) 
 Other comprehensive income –   –   20 –   20 2 22 
Total comprehensive loss 

for the year –   –   20 (872) (852) (97) (949) 
 

Transactions with owners,  
recorded directly in  
shareholders’ equity: 

 
Stock-based compensation  

(note 10 (d)) –   691 –   –   691 –   691 
 

Balance, December 31, 2013 $ 418,592 $ 33,346 $ 20 $ (442,263) $ 9,695 $ 1,123 $ 10,818 

 
 

   Attributable to owners of the Company  Non- 
   Other   controlling 
  Share capital equity Deficit Total interest Total 
  (note 10 (b)) 
 
Balance, December 31, 2011 $ 389,597 $ 23,262 $ (451,681) $ (38,822) $ –   $ (38,822) 
 
Net loss and total comprehensive  

loss for the year –   –   (13,255) (13,255) 85 (13,170) 
 
Transactions with owners, recorded  

directly in shareholders’ equity: 
 

Stock-based compensation (note 10 (d)) –   649 –   649 –   649 
 
Issued on settlement of  
 convertible securities (notes 1 and  
 10 (c)) 28,995 8,744 15,580 53,319 –   53,319 

 
Change in ownership interest in  
 subsidiary that does not result in  
 loss of control (note 1) –   –   7,965 7,965 1,135 9,100 
 

Balance, December 31, 2012 $ 418,592 $ 32,655 $ (441,391) $ 9,856 $ 1,220 $ 11,076 

 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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BELLUS HEALTH INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 
Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012  
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
         Year ended Year ended 
     December 31, December 31,  
        2013 2012 
     
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Net loss for the year $ (971) $ (13,170) 
Adjustments for: 

Stock-based compensation 691 649 
Gain on acquisition (1,672) –   
Revenue under licensing agreement (note 9 (c) (ii)) (169) –   
Gain on sale of unrecognized assets –   (8,150) 
Financing and Corporate Reorganization transaction costs (note 1) –   1,268 
Other income –   (650) 
Net finance (income) costs (646) 18,353 
Other items (2) 3 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
Trade and other receivables  175 11 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 693 (747) 
Trade and other payables 268 (243) 
Deferred revenue (1,564) (336) 

  (3,197) (3,012) 
 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Credit facilities (67) (479) 
Settlement of a credit facility (note 7) (1,282) –   
Interest and bank charges paid (142) (219) 
Sale of ownership interest in subsidiary (note 1) –   9,100 
Registration fees for issuance of common shares (note 1) –   (124) 

  (1,491) 8,278 
 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired (note 5) 398 –   
Transaction costs for acquisition of investment (note 9 (c) (ii)) (15) –   
Sale of unrecognized assets (note 1) –   8,150 
Transaction costs for sale of unrecognized assets (note 1) –   (1,268) 
Payment received for sale of subsidiary (note 13) –   650 
Sale (purchase) of short-term investments 4,556 (7,824) 
Restricted cash (88) –   
Proceeds from ABCP Notes 108 551 
Interest received 202 137 

  5,161 396 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 473 5,662 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 10,745 5,105 
 
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents  61 (22) 
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 11,279 $ 10,745 

 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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BELLUS HEALTH INC. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share data, unless otherwise noted) 
 

 
1. Reporting entity and 2012 financing and corporate reorganization: 

BELLUS Health Inc. (referred to as BELLUS Health or the Company), is a drug development 
company focused on rare diseases. The Company is domiciled in Canada. The address of the 
Company’s registered office is 275 Armand-Frappier Blvd., Laval, Quebec, H7V 4A7. The 
Company's shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) under the symbol BLU.  

References herein to BELLUS Health’s business and operations include activities prior to May 25, 
2012 (refer to 2012 Financing and Corporate Reorganization below), on the basis that such 
historical business and operations have been continued by the Company. 

Since inception (June 17, 1993), the business activities of the Company have been devoted 
principally to the development of the Company’s core technology platform, amyloid inhibitors, which 

focus on chemical compounds that could have the potential to inhibit the formation, deposition and 
toxicity of amyloid fibrils which are implicated or believed to be the underlying causes of certain 
diseases. BELLUS Health is developing drugs for rare diseases, with an initial focus on kidney 
disorders. The Company has a portfolio of rare disease projects including lead program KIACTA™ 

in Phase III for AA amyloidosis, clinical stage ShigamabTM for STEC-related Hemolytic Uremic 
Syndrome (sHUS) (acquired through the acquisition of Thallion Pharmaceuticals Inc. (Thallion) in 
2013, refer to note 5) and a research-stage project for AL amyloidosis. KIACTA™ is currently in a 
Phase III Confirmatory Study for the treatment of AA amyloidosis, an orphan indication resulting in 
renal dysfunction that often rapidly leads to dialysis and death. In 2010, the Company signed an 
asset sale and license agreement in relation to KIACTA™ (refer to note 9 (a)).  

In October 2013, the Company divested two non-core assets, natural health product VIVIMINDTM 
and drug candidate BLU8499 (refer to note 9 (c)).  

To date, the Company has financed its operations primarily through public offerings of common 
shares, private placements, issuance of convertible notes, a sale of non-controlling interest, a sale-
leaseback transaction, research tax credits, collaboration and research contracts, asset sales, 
licensing and supply agreements, interest and other income. The Company has incurred significant 
operating losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception. As a result of measures 
implemented by the Company in the past years, the Company has significantly reduced its required 
cash outflows. The ability of the Company to ultimately achieve future profitable operations is 
dependent upon obtaining regulatory approval in various jurisdictions and successful sale or 
commercialization of the Company’s products and technologies, which is dependent on a number 
of factors outside of the Company’s control. 
 



 
BELLUS HEALTH INC. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued 
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(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share data, unless otherwise noted) 
 

 

 40 

1. Reporting entity and 2012 financing and corporate reorganization (continued): 

2012 financing and corporate reorganization: 

On May 25, 2012 (Financing and Corporate Reorganization Date), BELLUS Health Inc., a company 
incorporated in June 1993 under the Canada Business Corporations Act and now named 2930862 
Canada Inc. (Old BELLUS), entered into a strategic partnership and financing agreement with 
Pharmascience Inc. (Pharmascience), an unrelated party to the Company. Pharmascience paid a 
total of $17,250, including $8,150 in non-dilutive capital for 100% of Old BELLUS outstanding 
common shares and $9,100 for a 10.4% ownership stake in BHI Limited partnership (BHI LP), a 
newly-created partnership operated by a new public company (New BELLUS) owned by Old 
BELLUS’s former securityholders. New BELLUS was incorporated on April 12, 2012, under the 
Canada Business Corporations Act. The transaction was put in place through a plan of 
arrangement (the Plan of Arrangement). 

Under the terms of the Plan of Arrangement, Old BELLUS transferred its business and operations, 
including substantially all of its assets and liabilities, to BHI LP, which is owned at 89.6% by New 
BELLUS and at 10.4% by Pharmascience. Immediately before the transaction with Pharmascience, 
all outstanding convertible securities of Old BELLUS were settled through the issuance of Old 
BELLUS common shares and by the issuance of an amended convertible note ranking equally with 
Old BELLUS common shares (and convertible into New BELLUS common shares in 2016) (the 
Amended Note) (refer to note 10 (c)). In addition, the former securityholders of Old BELLUS 
exchanged their common shares on a one-for-one basis for New BELLUS common shares. 

Pharmascience has the right to exchange its interest in BHI LP for 6,350,640 New BELLUS 
common shares (the Exchange Right) at any time. On or after September 30, 2016, New BELLUS 
has the right to have Pharmascience exercise the Exchange Right. 

New BELLUS, the reporting entity following the Financing and Corporate Reorganization Date, in 
replacement to Old BELLUS, carried on its business operations under the name "BELLUS Health 
Inc.", and its common shares are listed with the same "BLU" symbol on the TSX, as indicated 
above. 

For accounting purposes, as there is no single controlling shareholder before or after the 
transaction, this transaction was accounted for as a restructuring at book value in these 
consolidated financial statements. Pursuant to this method, the assets transferred and liabilities 
assumed were recorded at their carrying value as reported by Old BELLUS immediately prior to 
the transaction.  
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1. Reporting entity and 2012 financing and corporate reorganization (continued): 

2012 financing and corporate reorganization (continued): 

The non-dilutive capital of $8,150 received by Pharmascience was allocated to the sale of 
unrecognized assets in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet, and therefore resulted in a 

Gain on sale of unrecognized assets in the consolidated statement of loss and other 
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2012. As a result of the non-dilutive capital 
received, unrecognized tax attributes of Old BELLUS in relation to its research and development 
expenses, federal research and development investment tax credits and tax losses carried forward 
generated from its business through May 25, 2012, are no longer available to New BELLUS. 

The $9,100 consideration received for a 10.4% ownership stake (non-controlling interest) of 
Pharmascience in BHI LP was accounted for as follows: a Non-controlling interest of $1,135 in 
Equity, which corresponds to 10.4% of the carrying value of the assets and liabilities of BHI LP on 
May 25, 2012, and the difference with the consideration received from the investment was credited 
to Deficit ($7,965).  

On May 29, 2012, New BELLUS common shares were consolidated on the basis of one new post-
consolidation common share for every 30 pre-consolidation common shares. As a result, all issued 
and outstanding common shares, stock options, deferred share units, preferred share conversion 
ratio and per share amounts that are prior to May 29, 2012 and contained in these consolidated 
financial statements have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the share consolidation. 

As at December 31, 2012, transactions costs in relation to the Financing and Corporate 
Reorganization approximately amounted to $1,392 ($1,268 presented in General and 
administrative expenses, as well as $124 presented in Deficit, which consist in registration fees for 
the issuance of common shares).  

 Non-controlling interest: 

The strategic partnership and financing agreement with Pharmascience in May 2012 resulted in 
Pharmascience having a non-controlling interest of 10.4% in BHI LP (and its subsidiary). BHI LP is 
a limited partnership held by BELLUS Health at 89.6%. It is based at the same address as BELLUS 
Health. BELLUS Health’s main business and operations occur in BHI LP.  

As at December 31, 2013, on a non-consolidated basis, total assets of BHI LP (and its subsidiary) 
amounted to $23,586, and total liabilities amounted to $12,912. Non-consolidated net loss of 
BHI LP (and its subsidiary) amounted to $948 for the year ended December 31, 2013, for which 
$99 is attributable to the non-controlling interest. 
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1. Reporting entity and 2012 financing and corporate reorganization (continued): 

 Non-controlling interest (continued): 

Prior consent of Pharmascience shall be required in respect of the following:(a) any change to the 
capital structure of BHI LP; 

(b) any proceedings for the continuance, winding up, liquidation or dissolution of BHI LP; 

(c) any assignment of property of BHI LP for the benefit of creditors or any action under the terms 
of any law relating to insolvency or creditors arrangement; 

(d) any loans by BHI LP to: i) a person outside the BELLUS Health group of company, or ii) a 
company within the BELLUS Health group if above a certain threshold; or 

(e) the sale, lease, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets or any 
material asset of BHI LP out of the ordinary course of business, or the granting of an option or 
right to such effect. 

 

2. Basis of preparation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, were 
approved by the Board of Directors on February 25, 2014. 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except 
for the following material items in the consolidated balance sheet: 

(i) financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss are measured 
at fair value;  

(ii) available for sale financial asset is measured at fair value; 

(iii) liability for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements is measured at fair value; and 

(iv) contingent consideration on business acquisition and related contingent indemnification 
right are measured at fair value. 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued): 

(c) Functional and presentation currency: 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the 
Company’s functional currency.  

(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The 
reported amounts and note disclosures reflect management’s best estimate of the most 

probable set of economic conditions and planned course of actions. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.   

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements relate to 
the determination of the separate components and the timing of their recognition in accounting 
for revenue recognition (note 3 (c)), the determination of accounting for the acquisition of 
Thallion as a business combination (note 5), the evaluation of the collectibility of the 
consideration receivable from FB Health S.p.A (FB Health) under the VIVIMINDTM license 
agreement (note 9 (c) (i)), the allocation of the consideration received from Pharmascience in 
2012 between the sale of unrecognized assets and the sale of a non-controlling interest in BHI 
LP (note 1) and the classification of the Amended Note as equity (note 10 (c)). 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties with a significant risk of resulting 
in material adjustments is included within the following notes and is described below: 

(i) estimating the timing of regulatory approvals and the pattern of performance for revenue 
recognition purposes (note 9);  

(ii) estimating the fair value of investments in ABCP Notes (note 7); 

(iii) estimating the fair value of the investment in FB Health (note 9 (c) (ii)); 

(iv) estimating the fair value of the in-process research and development asset related to 
ShigamabTM (note 5); and 

(v) estimating the fair value of the stock-based compensation (note 10 (d)).  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which they are made and in future periods 
affected.  
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3. Significant accounting policies: 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in 
these consolidated financial statements. 

(a) Basis of consolidation:  

(i) Business combinations: 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition 
date – i.e. when control is transferred to the Company. Control is the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The 
Company measures goodwill as the fair value for the consideration transferred including the 
recognized amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree less the net recognized 
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured at the 
acquisition date. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the 
business acquired, the difference is recognized immediately in income as a gain from a 
bargain purchase. The Company elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to 
measure non-controlling interest at its fair value, or at its proportionate share of the 
recognized amount of the identifiable net assets, at the acquisition date. 

Any contingent consideration and related indemnification right are recognized at fair value 
at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in fair value of contingent consideration and 
related indemnification right classified as a financial liability and financial asset are 
recognized in income. Restructuring, transaction costs and other direct costs of a business 
combination are not considered part of the business acquisition transaction. Instead, such 
costs are expensed as incurred, unless they constitute the costs associated with issuing 
debt or equity securities. 

Changes in the Company’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 

accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners. Adjustments to non-
controlling interests are based on a proportionate amount of the book value of the net assets 
of the subsidiary. No gain or loss is recognized in income. 

(ii) Subsidiaries: 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of BELLUS Health Inc. and 
its subsidiaries, including BHI LP. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by BELLUS Health 
Inc. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 
Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments: 

The Company considers all investments with maturities of three months or less at inception, 
that are highly liquid and readily convertible into cash, to be cash equivalents. Investments with 
maturities greater than three months and less than one year are presented as short-term 
investments in the consolidated balance sheet. 

(c) Revenue recognition: 

Revenue from the Company’s different agreements is assessed in order to determine whether 
they contain separately identifiable components. When separation is required, the 
consideration received or receivable is allocated amongst the separate components based on 
the relative fair values of each component. When the fair value of the delivered item is not 
reliably measurable, then revenue is allocated based on the difference between the total 
arrangement consideration and the fair value of the undelivered item. The applicable revenue 
recognition criteria are applied to each of the separate components. Otherwise, the applicable 
revenue recognition criteria are applied to the combined components as a whole. Payments 
received under agreements may include payments received as licensing fees, sale-based 
royalty payments, upfront payments, regulatory and sales-based milestone payments for 
specific achievements, as well as revenue from the supply of products.  

Revenue for each separately identifiable component is recorded as follows:  

(i) fixed payments received as revenue from intellectual property under licensing agreements 
are recognized into income when conditions and events under the license agreement have 
been met or occurred, the Company has no future involvement or obligations to perform 
related to the specified element of the arrangement and it is probable that the economic 
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company; 

(ii) sales-based milestone payments and royalty payments, for which the Company has no 
future involvement or obligations to perform related to that specified element of the 
arrangement, are recognized into income upon the achievement of the specified sales 
level and when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction 
will flow to the Company; 

(iii)  non-refundable upfront payments received on the signing of agreements and regulatory 
milestone payments, which require the Company’s ongoing involvement, are deferred and 

amortized in income on a straight-line basis over the expected period of performance of 
the related activities, provided that revenue subject to the achievement of milestones is 
recognized only when the specified events have occurred and it is probable that the 
economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company; and 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Revenue recognition (continued): 

(iv)  revenues from the sale or supply of products are recognized when the Company has 
transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the products, the 
Company retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually 
associated with ownership nor effective control over the products sold, the amount of 
revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated 
with the transaction will flow to the Company, and the costs incurred or to be incurred in 
respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.  

Amounts received or billed in advance of recognition are presented as deferred revenue. 
Amounts receivable in advance of progress billing are presented as other assets. 

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method. 

(d) Research and development: 

Research expenditures undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical 
knowledge are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures are deferred when they meet 
the criteria for capitalization in accordance with IFRS, and the future benefits could be regarded 
as being reasonably certain. The criteria to be fulfilled in order to capitalize development costs 
are if such costs can be measured reliably, if the product or process is technically and 
commercially feasible, if future economic benefits are probable and if the Company intends to 
and has sufficient resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset. As at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, no development costs were deferred. 

(e) In-process research and development asset: 

In-process research and development assets that are acquired by the Company are accounted 
for as indefinite-lived intangible assets until the project is completed or abandoned, at which 
point they will be amortized or impaired, respectively. 

(f) Government assistance: 

Government assistance, consisting of grants and research tax credits, is recorded as a 
reduction of the related expense or cost of the asset acquired, as applicable. Grants are 
recorded when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has complied with the terms 
and conditions of the approved grant program. Research tax credits recorded are those in 
management’s belief for which there is reasonable assurance that the tax credits will be 
received. Research tax credits claimed for the current and prior years are subject to 
government review which could result in adjustments to income. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(g) Foreign exchange: 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Company at 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the 
reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are 
measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Income and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 
exchange rates in effect at the transaction date. Translation gains and losses are included in 
income.  

(h) Leased assets:  

All of the Company’s leases are operating leases. The leased assets are not recognized in the 

Company’s consolidated balance sheet since the Company does not assume substantially all 

risks and rewards of ownership of the leased assets.  

(i) Income taxes: 

Deferred tax is recognized for temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and 
the income tax bases of the Company’s assets and liabilities and is recorded using the 
substantively enacted tax rates anticipated to be in effect when the tax differences are expected 
to reverse. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current 
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized 
simultaneously. A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and 
deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized. 

(j) Provisions:  

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present, legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of 
the discount is recognized as finance cost. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k) Earnings per share: 

Basic earnings per share are determined using the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share are computed in a manner 
consistent with basic earnings per share, except that the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding is increased to include additional shares from the assumed exercise of options, if 
dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding options 
were exercised, and that the proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire common 
shares at the average market price during the reporting period. The dilutive effect of the 
Amended Note and Pharmascience Exchange Right is reflected in diluted earnings per share 
by application of the "if-converted" method, if dilutive. Under the if-converted method, the note 
and exchange right are assumed to have been converted at the beginning of the period (or at 
time of issuance, if later), net income is adjusted for the effect of gains or charges for the period 
on the note and exchange right and the resulting common shares are included for purposes of 
calculating diluted earnings per share. 

(l) Employee benefits: 

(i) Short-term employee benefits: 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount 
expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plans if the Company has a present, 
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by 
the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

(ii) Stock-based compensation: 

The Company follows the fair value based method to account for stock options granted to 
employees, whereby compensation cost is measured at fair value at the date of grant and 
is expensed over the award’s vesting period with a corresponding increase to equity. For 
the stock options with graded vesting, the fair value of each tranche is recognized over its 
respective vesting period. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the 
number of awards for which the related service vesting conditions are expected to be met, 
such that the amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the number of 
awards that meet the related service conditions at the vesting date. For non-employees, 
the fair value of the options is remeasured and recognized over the service period.  

When stock options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds 
received, together with the related portion previously recorded in other equity, are credited 
to share capital. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(l) Employee benefits (continued): 

(ii) Stock-based compensation (continued): 

The Company uses Deferred Share Units (DSU) for compensation of directors and 
designated employees. Upon termination of service, DSU participants are entitled to 
receive for each DSU credited to their account the payment in cash on the date of 
settlement based on the value of a BELLUS Health common share. For DSUs, 
compensation cost is measured based on the market price of the Company's common 
shares from the date of grant through to the settlement date. Any changes in the market 
value of the Company's common shares through to the settlement date result in a change 
to the measure of compensation cost for those awards and are recorded in income. 

(m) Financial instruments: 

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and classified at inception as 
either loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets, other financial liabilities or 
designated at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL). Subsequently, financial instruments 
are measured in accordance with the measurement provision of the category to which they 
have been initially classified or designated. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred for 
financial instruments designated at FVTPL. For other financial instruments, transaction costs 
are accumulated on initial recognition and presented as an increase or reduction of the 
underlying financial instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified at 
FVTPL if they are classified as held for trading or are designated as such upon initial 
recognition. Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, and changes 
therein are recognized in income. Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, 
and changes therein are recognized in other comprehensive income. Loans and receivables 
and other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. 

The Company has designated or classified its financial instruments as follows: 

Investments in ABCP Notes are designated as FVTPL, as the contracts contain one or more 
embedded derivatives which would significantly modify the cash flows that otherwise would be 
required by the contract. 

Contingent right from Premium Brands Holding Corp. (Premium Brands) and contingent 
consideration related to CVRs are measured at fair value upon business acquisition and 
subsequently (refer to note 3 (a) (i)). 

Investment in FB Health is classified as an available-for-sale financial asset. Changes in foreign 
exchange measurement are recorded in other comprehensive income.   
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(m) Financial instruments (continued): 

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments (consisting of fixed and variable income 
securities), restricted cash, trade and other receivables and other assets, excluding contingent 
right from Premium Brands, are classified as loans and receivables. 

Trade and other payables and credit facilities are classified as other financial liabilities. 

Financial instruments that meet equity classification criteria upon initial recognition are not 
remeasured subsequent to initial recognition. 

Derivative instruments are measured at their fair value each period through income. 
Attributable transaction costs are recognized in income as incurred. Certain derivatives 
embedded in other contracts are required to be separated from the host contract and measured 
at fair value when the embedded derivative and host contract are not deemed to be closely 
related, and the combined contract is not held for trading or designated at fair value.  

Share capital 

Common shares and preferred shares that are not redeemable or are redeemable only at the 
Company’s option are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of common and preferred shares are recognized as a deduction from the deficit, net of any tax 
effects. 

 

4. Changes in accounting policies:  

 Accounting changes in 2013: 

On January 1, 2013, the Company adopted the following new accounting standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB): 

(a) Consolidation: 

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, replaces the guidance in IAS 27, Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements and the interpretation of Standing Interpretations 
Committee (SIC) 12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities (SPE). The consolidation 
procedures are carried forward substantially unmodified from IAS 27. The application of 
IFRS 10 did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
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4. Changes in accounting policies (continued):  

 Accounting changes in 2013 (continued): 

(b) Disclosure of interests in other entities: 

In October 2012, the IASB issued Investment Entities – Amendments to IFRS 12. The 
amendments require information that will assist financial statement users to evaluate the 
nature, risks and financial effects associated with an entity’s interests in subsidiaries. This 

standard is required to be applied for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
The adoption of this new pronouncement did not have a material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements other than added disclosure requirements which have been presented in 
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. 

(c) Fair value measurement: 

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained 
in individual IFRS with a single source of fair value measurement guidance. It defines fair value 
as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, i.e. an exit price. The 
application of IFRS 13 did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

 Future accounting changes:  

Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, was issued in November 2009. It addresses classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities. In November 2013, the IASB issued a new 
general hedge accounting standard, which forms part of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (2013). The 
new standard removes the January 1, 2015 prior effective date of IFRS 9. The new mandatory 
effective date will be determined once the classification and measurement and impairment phases 
of IFRS 9 are finalized. The mandatory effective date is not yet determined, however, early adoption 
of the new standard is still permitted. However Canadian reporting entities cannot early adopt IFRS 
9 until it has been approved by the Canadian Accounting Standards Board. The Company has not 
yet assessed the impact of adoption of IFRS 9.  
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5. Acquisition of business: 

On August 15, 2013, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
Thallion by way of a plan of arrangement for a purchase price of $6,266 in cash or $0.1889 per 
common share (on a fully-diluted basis, including stock options) and the issuance of one contingent 
value right (CVR) per common share (the Acquisition Agreement). Thallion is a biotechnology 
company developing pharmaceutical products in the areas of infectious disease and oncology. 
Thallion’s lead clinical program Shigamab™ is an antibody treatment for Hemolytic Uremic 
Syndrome caused by Shiga toxin-producing E. coli (sHUS). sHUS often leads to dialysis, chronic 
kidney disease and in some cases death, particularly in children. Shigamab™ has recently 

completed a Phase II clinical trial.  

This transaction added to BELLUS Health's pipeline a clinical stage drug candidate in a rare 
disease indication and increased the Company's cash and short-term investments position by 
$1,148, Thallion having cash and short-term investments of $7,414 on closing of the transaction.  

The CVRs issued to Thallion’s shareholders entitle the holder thereof to: (A) its pro rata share of 
100% of any additional purchase price consideration to be received from Premium Brands in 2016 
(total amount receivable estimated by management to amount up to $1,450, or $0.0404 per CVR), 
(B) its pro rata share of 5% of the Shigamab™ revenue generated or received by BELLUS Health, 
capped at $6,500 (or $0.1812 per CVR) and (C) its pro rata share of 100% of any net proceeds 
generated from the licensing, selling or otherwise commercializing of (i) diagnostic products or 
services using certain Caprion Proteomics Inc. products, and (ii) all issued patents or pending 
patents pertaining to such Caprion Proteomics Inc. products, in respect of which Thallion has an 
ownership interest or monetary entitlement. The amount to which the holders of CVRs may be 
entitled can be reduced for potential contingent liabilities owing by Thallion (including, but not 
limited to, in respect of the indemnity agreement with Premium Brands (refer to note 14 (b) (ii)), 
accounts payable or litigation).  

This transaction has been accounted for as a business combination, as assets acquired and 
liabilities assume meet the definition of a business per International Financial Reporting Standard 3 
(IFRS 3), Business Combination. Transaction costs for the year ended December 31, 2013, 
amounted to $253 and are presented in General and administrative expenses in the consolidated 
statement of loss and other comprehensive loss. Transaction costs were not included as part of 
the consideration transferred. 
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5. Acquisition of business (continued): 

The following table summarizes the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed as at the date of acquisition: 
 

    
 
Cash     $ 6,664 
Short-term investments   750 
Trade and other receivables   192 
In-process research and development asset related to ShigamabTM (1)  542 
Contingent right from Premium Brands (2)   875 
Trade and other payables   (140) 
 

     $ 8,883 

(1) BELLUS Health estimated the fair value of the in-process research and development asset related to 
ShigamabTM by discounting the probability weighted estimated cash flows based on future estimated 
revenues, including royalties and milestones, and expenses to be incurred from preclinical phase until 
launch of the final product, using a pre-tax discount rate of 20%. The in-process research and development 
asset is accounted for as an indefinite-lived intangible asset until the project is completed or abandoned, at 
which point it will be amortized or impaired, respectively.  

(2) BELLUS Health is entitled to receive in 2016 an additional purchase price consideration from Premium 
Brands, estimated by management to amount up to $1,450. The fair value of the right was evaluated by 
discounting the probability weighted cash flows estimated to be received by management. This right is 
classified in non-current Other assets in the consolidated balance sheet and is accounted for at fair value 
at acquisition and subsequently, on the same basis as the related contingent consideration (CVRs – On 
receivable from Premium Brands) below. Changes in fair value are recognized in income. Change in fair 
value for the year ended December 31, 2013, amounted to an income of $58, and is presented in Finance 
income in the consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive loss. 
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5. Acquisition of business (continued): 

The following table summarizes the assumed consideration transferred as at the date of acquisition: 
 
    
 
Cash consideration paid      $ 6,266 
Contingent consideration (CVRs – On receivable from Premium Brands) (1)  875 
Contingent consideration (CVRs – On ShigamabTM future revenues) (2)  70 
 

     $ 7,211 
(1) In the event BELLUS Health receives in 2016 the additional purchase price consideration from Premium 

Brands, it would have to pay 100% of the amount received to the CVR holders. The fair value was evaluated 
by discounting the probability weighted cash flows estimated to be received by management.  Contingent 
considerations are recognized at fair value on acquisition and subsequently, with changes in fair value 
recognized in income. Change in fair value for the year ended December 31, 2013, amounted to a loss of 
$58, and is presented in Finance costs in the consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive loss. 

(2) As provided by the Acquisition Agreement, BELLUS Health shall pay to CVR holders their pro rata share of 
5% of the ShigamabTM revenue generated or received by BELLUS Health, capped at $6,500. The fair value 
of this contingent liability was evaluated by discounting the probability weighted estimated cash flows based 
on various assumptions. 

No value has been attributed to contingent consideration payable in relation to CVRs on future 
revenues from assets developed by Caprion Proteomics Inc. as the Company does not expect to 
receive any revenue from these assets in the future.  

The difference between the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed and 
the consideration transferred was recognized as a gain on acquisition in the amount of $1,672 in 
consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 
2013. 

Since the date of acquisition, Thallion has contributed nil to the 2013 revenues of the Company, 
and the amount contributed to the Company’s 2013 income has not been significant. Had this 
business acquisition been effected as at the beginning of the 2013 year, excluding non-recurring 
items recognised by Thallion in 2013 consisting of revenues of $9,656, severance and termination 
costs of $1,660 and other transaction-related costs of $1,155, the Company’s consolidated 

revenues would have been unchanged and consolidated net loss would have been of $2,279 for 
the year ended December 31, 2013. However, management does not consider these pro forma 
figures as being indicative of the level of expenses expected for Thallion in the future. 
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6. Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments: 

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments consist of cash balances with banks and 
short-term investments: 

 

   December 31, December 31, 
   2013 2012 

 
Cash balances with banks   $ 919 $ 2,657 
Short-term investments with initial maturities of less than  
 three months (yielding interest at 1.37% to 1.50% as at  
 December 31, 2013) (December 31, 2012 – 0.16% to 1.16%) 10,360 8,088 

   11,279 10,745 
Short-term investments with initial maturities greater than three 
 months and less than one year (yielding interest at 1.60% to 
 1.80% as at December 31, 2013) (December 31, 2012 – 1.18%                                                        

to 1.42%)  4,018 7,824 
 
    $ 15,297 $ 18,569 
 

 

7. Investments in ABCP Notes:  

In 2007, Canadian third party asset-backed commercial paper (ABCP) market was hit by a liquidity 
disruption. In January 2009, ABCP was restructured by the Pan-Canadian Investors Committee. 
Pursuant to the terms of the restructuring plan, holders of ABCP had their short-term notes 
exchanged for longer-term notes (ABCP Notes).  

As at December 31, 2013, the Company held ABCP Notes having notional value of $5,747, 
consisting of $2,299 of MAV2 Class A-1 Notes, $2,772 of MAV2 Class A-2 Notes, $503 of MAV2 
Class B Notes, as well as $173 of MAV2 Class C Notes. During the year ended December 31, 
2013, the Company received partial payments for capital of $67, and for interest of $41 (2012 - 
$479 and $72, respectively).  
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7. Investments in ABCP Notes (continued):  

In 2009, in connection with the restructuring of the ABCP market, the Company entered into 
secured revolving credit facilities with the chartered bank that sold the ABCP to the Company. 
These facilities mature in April 2015, with options to renew until April 2016. As of December 31, 
2013, these credit facilities have a combined maximum aggregate available amount of $5,188, 
which was fully drawn ($8,245 as of December 31, 2012), bear interest at prime rate minus 1% per 
annum (weighted average effective interest rate was 2.24% in 2013 (2012 - 2.27%)). The amount 
and availability of these credit facilities decrease as capital payments are received on the ABCP 
Notes. The credit facilities are secured by ABCP Notes issued to the Company, on the securities 
accounts in which they are held and on all proceeds of these notes. In addition, a portion of these 
credit facilities and all other obligations of the Company towards the chartered bank are secured 
by a hypothec on the universality of the Company’s assets in the amount of approximately $1,800. 
As at December 31, 2013, the revolving credit facilities also include a put option feature which may 
limit the Company’s losses to 55% of the ABCP Notes notional value, subject to certain conditions. 

The investments in ABCP Notes are measured at fair value in the consolidated financial 
statements. As at December 31, 2013, the Company estimated the fair value of the ABCP Notes 
at $5,187, of which $582 is presented as current assets, as the Company expects to dispose of 
these notes in the upcoming year, and $4,605 as non-current assets in the consolidated balance 
sheet ($6,547 in non-current assets as at December 31, 2012, of which $531 is presented as non-
current Restricted cash as it was pledged to a bank as collateral for a letter of credit issued in 
connection with a lease agreement (refer to note 14 (e))). In connection with its fair value 
determination, the Company recorded an increase in fair value of $499 for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 (2012 - increase of $1,135), which is presented in Finance income in the 
consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive loss.  

In April 2013, the Company exercised the put option on one of its credit facilities, which reduced 
both the aggregate credit facilities and nominal value of the related ABCP Notes by $3,087 
(US$3,009). Upon the exercise of the put option, the Company transferred to the bank ownership 
of the MAV3 IA Tracking Notes, and paid an amount of $1,282 (US$1,250) to settle the credit 
facility. The settlement of the facility for $1,805 (US$1,759) by exercise of the put option is a non-
cash transaction, therefore excluded from the consolidated statement of cash flows. 
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7. Investments in ABCP Notes (continued):  

As at December 31, 2013, the Company estimated the fair value of the ABCP Notes by considering 
broker/dealer quotes. As at December 31, 2012, the fair value determination also took into 
consideration the value of the put option exercised in April 2013, as described below.  Estimates of 
the fair value of the ABCP Notes are not supported by active market prices or rates, and therefore 
are subject to uncertainty. The resolution of this uncertainty could be such that the ultimate fair 
value of these investments may vary significantly from the Company’s current estimate. Changes 
in the near-term could require significant changes in the recognized amount of these assets. As 
the Company records the ABCP Notes at fair value each reporting period, such adjustments will 
directly impact income. 

 

8. Trade and other payables: 

Trade and other payables consist of: 
 

  December 31, December 31, 
   2013 2012 

 
Trade payables     $ 280 $ 75 
Other accrued liabilities   1,229 1,022 
Deferred share unit plan (note 10 (f))   72 76 
 

     $ 1,581 $ 1,173 
 

 

9. Revenues: 

Revenues consist of the following: 

(a) Development services: 

(i) On April 29, 2010, the Company entered into an asset sale and license agreement pursuant 
to which Auven Therapeutics (previously Celtic Therapeutics) acquired and licensed 
worldwide rights related to the Phase III investigational product candidate KIACTA™, and 
received upfront payments totalling $10,039 (US$10,000). The Company also transferred 
related research inventory in 2010 for proceeds of $173 (US$172) in conjunction with this 
agreement.  
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9. Revenues (continued): 

(a) Development services (continued): 

(i) (continued): 

Under this agreement, Auven Therapeutics is conducting the KIACTA™ study and funding 
100% the development costs of KIACTA™, including the Phase III Confirmatory Study and 
other related activities. Overall proceeds from potential future revenue of KIACTA™ will be 
shared between Auven Therapeutics and BELLUS Health based on a pre-agreed formula 
included in the asset sale and license agreement, and it is currently expected that they will 
be shared approximately equally between the parties.  

In conjunction with the asset sale and license agreement, a service agreement was entered 
into between the parties in 2010 for an initial expected amount of $745 (US$745) receivable 
over the life of the agreement, for BELLUS Health to provide support and assistance to 
Auven Therapeutics in connection with their development plan of KIACTA™. The 
Company’s expected support and assistance to Auven Therapeutics was increased in 2011 
and 2012 based on management’s best estimate, adjusting the expected amount receivable 
over the life of the service agreement. As at December 31, 2013, the expected amount 
receivable over the life of the service agreement amounted to $2,689 (US$2,727). The 
unbilled amount receivable in relation to the service agreement amounted to $854 as at 
December 31, 2013, of which $596 is presented as current Prepaid expenses and other 
assets and $258 as non-current Other assets in the consolidated balance sheet ($1,356 as 
at December 31, 2012, of which $557 is presented as current Prepaid expenses and other 
assets and $779 as non-current Other assets). Revenue adjustments in relation to a change 
in the expected amount to be received are recognized prospectively. 

The Company determined that identifiable components related to the upfront payments and 
other monetary considerations under both agreements do not meet the requirements for 
separation and, as such, accounted for the combined components as a whole for revenue 
recognition. Revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the development phase 
conducted by Auven Therapeutics, which was estimated to be 86 months to 2017 as at 
December 31, 2012, as that time period was considered to be management’s best estimate 

of the pattern of performance of all its obligations under the agreements at that date. As at 
December 31, 2013, management’s estimate of development phase period was revised to 
80 months to 2016. Revenue adjustments in relation to a change in the life of the agreement 
are recognized prospectively. The Company recognized revenues of $1,433 in relation to 
those agreements for the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 - $1,824). The deferred 
revenue balances in the consolidated balance sheet mainly consist of unrecognized 
revenue in relation to those agreements. 



 
BELLUS HEALTH INC. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued 
 
Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share data, unless otherwise noted) 
 

 

 59 

9. Revenues (continued): 

(a) Development services (continued): 

ii) In 2012, the Company entered into a partnership with Asclepios Bioresearch (UK) Limited 
(Asclepios) for the development of BLU8499, BELLUS Health's drug candidate for the 
treatment of central nervous system diseases including Alzheimer's disease. Under the 
terms of the agreement, Asclepios would have fund all Phase IIa enabling activities. The 
Company received in 2012 a payment of $201 as per the agreement. The agreement was 
terminated on October 22, 2013. 

Revenue in connection with this agreement was recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
development phase conducted by Asclepios. As the agreement was terminated in 2013, the 
balance of deferred revenue was recognized in income. The Company recognized revenues 
of $175 in relation to this agreement for the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 - $26). 

(b) Supply of product 

Since 2010, the Company had agreements relating to the distribution of VIVIMIND™, a natural 
health product for memory protection, with partners in several countries, which provided for 
minimum expected revenue from the supply of the product by BELLUS Health, royalties, as 
well as sales-based and regulatory milestones. On October 22, 2013, the Company entered 
into an agreement to license VIVIMIND™ worldwide rights to FB Health (refer to note 9 (c) (i)). 
This transaction resulted in the termination of the supply agreement with FB Health, and the 
assignment of all of the Company’s other license and supply agreements to FB Health.  

The Company recognized revenues of $266 in connection to these agreements for the year 
ended December 31, 2013 (2012 - $448). 

(c) Revenue under licensing agreements: 

On October 22, 2013, BELLUS Health divested two non-core intellectual property assets: 
VIVIMIND™ and BLU8499. 

(i) BELLUS Health entered into an agreement to license VIVIMIND™ worldwide rights to 
FB Health, an Italy-based distributor of specialty natural health and pharmaceutical products 
targeting neurologists and geriatricians. The agreement provides for cash consideration of 
more than $2,000 to be received over the next four years, consisting of minimum expected 
revenue from fixed payments to be received as licensing fees of $1,500, to be received in 
five annual payments until 2017, sale-based royalty payments capped at, but no less than 
$500, receivable no later than December 31, 2017, as well as certain costs reimbursements.  
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9. Revenues (continued): 

(c) Revenue under licensing agreements (continued): 

(i) (continued): 

Consideration under this agreement is recognized into income when conditions and events 
under the license agreement have been met or occurred, and it is probable that the 
economic benefits associated will flow to the Company. As at the date of the transaction, 
management of the Company determined that it had performed all of its obligations under 
the agreement and that revenue under the agreement should be recognized. However, 
management assessed at as transaction date and year-end that uncertainty existed in 
relation to the collectibility of the amounts to be received over the next four years due to the 
start-up nature of FB Health’s business, therefore only recognized revenues to the extent 
received before year-end of $213. While collectibility remains uncertain, future amounts 
receivable will only be recognized as revenue at the time amounts will be received by the 
Company. 

(ii) BELLUS Health also entered into a worldwide license agreement with FB Health for 
BLU8499 and a family of analogs, along with an associated platform of chemotypes and 
clinical datasets. In turn, FB Health sublicensed all its rights to Alzheon Inc. (Alzheon), as 
part of an exclusive worldwide license, excluding Italy. Alzheon is a clinical-stage 
biotechnology company focused on brain health, memory and aging, developing the next 
generation of medicines for Alzheimer’s and other neurodegenerative diseases. As 
consideration, BELLUS Health received an equity stake in FB Health, and will receive a 
portion of all future payments received by Alzheon related to BLU8499 and royalties on net 
sales of BLU8499, and will be reimbursed for certain costs. 

Consideration under this agreement is recognized into income when conditions and events 
under the license agreement have been met or occurred, and it is probable that the 
economic benefits associated will flow to the Company. As at the date of the transaction, 
management of the Company determined that it had performed all of its obligations under 
the agreement and that revenue under the agreement should be recognized. However, as 
the portion of revenue based on future payments received by Alzheon and royalties on net 
sales are contingent upon Alzheon receiving these payments and on future sales, such 
consideration will only be recognized as revenue when it will be probable that economic 
benefits will flow to the Company, as payments are received or sales are made by Alzheon. 
Revenue under this agreement of $169 has been recognized as at December 31, 2013, for 
the consideration received in the form of the equity stake in FB Health.  
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9. Revenues (continued): 

(c) Revenue under licensing agreements (continued): 

(ii) (continued): 

The company classified the investment in FB Health as an available-for-sale financial asset, 
and recognized the investment initially at fair value. After initial recognition, any change in 
the fair value of the investment, including the transaction costs initially included in the fair 
value of such investment, will be recognized in other comprehensive income.  

FB Health is a private company, therefore this equity instrument does not have a quoted 
price in an active market for an identical instrument. However, the Company’s management 

estimated that the fair value of the 5.5% investment in FB Health could be reliably measured. 
Initially at transaction date, the Company estimated the fair value of the investment at $184, 
including transaction costs of $15. As such, the Company recorded as revenue licensing 
fees of $169 on transaction date. The recognition of the investment is a non-cash 
transaction, therefore excluded from the consolidated statement of cash flows. As at 
December 31, 2013, the Company estimated the fair value at $206, and an increase in fair 
value of $22, including transaction costs of $15, was recognized in other comprehensive 
income. At initial recognition as well as at December 31, 2013, the Company estimated the 
fair value of the investment in FB Health by using an enterprise valuation method based on 
a sales multiple. Estimates of the fair value of the investment are not supported by active 
market prices, and therefore are subject to uncertainty. The resolution of this uncertainty 
could be such that the ultimate fair value of the investment may vary significantly from the 
Company’s current estimate. Changes in the near-term could require significant changes in 
the recognized amount of this asset. As the Company records the investment in FB Health 
at fair value each reporting period, such adjustments will directly impact other 
comprehensive income. 

No other amount was received and recognized as revenue in relation to this agreement for 
the year ended December 31, 2013.  

These transactions are considered to be “related party transactions” under IFRS. FB Health is 
controlled by Dr. Francesco Bellini, the Chairman of the Board of Directors of BELLUS Health. 
Alzheon is controlled by Dr. Martin Tolar, a member of the Board of Directors of BELLUS 
Health. 
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10. Share capital: 

(a) The authorized share capital of the Company consists of: 
 an unlimited number of voting common shares with no par value; and 
 an unlimited number of non-voting preferred shares, issuable in one or more series, with no 

par value. 

(b) Issued and outstanding shares are as follows: 
 

               Common shares  
     Number Dollars 
 
Balance, December 31, 2012     47,426,358 $ 418,592 

 
Balance, December 31, 2013     47,426,358 $ 418,592 

 
 

  Common shares Preferred shares Total 
  Number Dollars Number Dollars Dollars 
 
Balance, December 31, 2011 6,908,435 $ 369,937 78,948,000 $ 19,660 $ 389,597 
 
Issued on settlement of 
 convertible securities  
 (note 10 (c)) 40,517,923 48,655 (78,948,000) (19,660) 28,995 

 
Balance, December 31, 2012 47,426,358 $ 418,592 –   $ –   $ 418,592 

 

(c) Common shares and other equity: 

In accordance with the Plan of Arrangement of May 2012 (refer to note 1), holders of BELLUS 
Health’s convertible notes issued in 2009 (2009 Notes) and convertible notes issued in 2006 

and 2007, and amended in 2009 (2006 and 2007 Notes), had the option to either immediately 
convert their notes into common shares at a fixed conversion ratio or have the terms of their 
notes amended to rank pari passu with the Company’s common shares and to be convertible 

into a fixed number of common shares in 2016. In addition, in accordance with the Plan of 
Arrangement, the Company’s preferred shares were converted into common shares of the 
Company based on their fair value.  

Immediately prior to the closing of the transaction with Pharmascience, prior to the start of 
business on May 25, 2012, all of the Company’s convertible notes were settled through the 
issuance of 32,017,856 common shares, with the exception of a portion of the 2009 Notes, for 
which the option to amend the terms of the convertible notes was exercised.  
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10. Share capital (continued): 

(c) Common shares and other equity (continued): 

The following are the terms of the Amended Note, ranking pari passu with the common shares:  

(i) the maturity date of the Amended Note was extended to January 1, 2016;  

(ii) the Amended Note has a notional amount of $10,930 and does not bear interest; 

(iii) the Amended Note is payable at maturity in cash or in 7,286,828 common shares of the 
Company (on the basis of the fixed conversion price as per the Plan of Arrangement, subject 
to customary anti-dilution provisions);  

(iv) on maturity, any of BELLUS Health or the noteholder may require the Amended Note to be 
paid in common shares of the Company; and  

(v) the Amended Note will be automatically converted into BELLUS Health common shares 
upon a change of control or liquidity events, as defined the Plan of Arrangement. 

The Amended Note is classified as Other equity in the consolidated balance sheet for 
accounting purposes.  

In accordance with the Plan of Arrangement of May 2012, the Company’s preferred shares 

were settled also through the issuance of 8,500,067 common shares of the Company. Prior to 
the Financing and Corporate Reorganization Date, the preferred shares were accounted for as 
compound financial instruments with both a debt and an equity component. 

 As a result, the Company derecognized the carrying value of the convertible notes and 
preferred shares liability and equity components at the Financing and Corporate 
Reorganization Date, recognized a loss on settlement of convertible securities of $15,751 in 
the consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive loss for the year ended 
December 31, 2012, presented in Finance costs, and recorded the fair value of the 
consideration paid in common shares in Share capital ($48,655) and in Amended Note in Other 
equity ($8,744). The derecognition of the liability and equity components of the preferred shares 
resulted in a reclassification to Deficit of their carrying value of $15,704. 

The accretion expense relating to these convertible securities up to the Financing and 
Corporate Reorganization Date amounted to $3,566 for the year ended December 31, 2012, 
and is presented in Finance costs in the consolidated statement of loss and other 
comprehensive loss.  

These settlements are non-cash transactions, therefore excluded from the consolidated 
statement of cash flows. 
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10. Share capital (continued): 

(d) Stock option plan: 

The completion of the Plan of Arrangement of May 2012 (refer to note 1) resulted in the vesting 
of all outstanding non-vested stock options of the Company. All outstanding stock options and 
related Old Stock Option Plan were then cancelled prior to the Financing and Corporate 
Reorganization Date. A New Stock Option Plan was approved, with the same terms as the Old 
Stock Option Plan of the Company, in all material respects. 

Under the New Stock Option Plan, the Company may grant options to purchase common 
shares to directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company. The number of 
common shares subject to each stock option, the vesting period, the expiration date and other 
terms and conditions related to each stock option are determined and approved by the Board 
of Directors. In general, stock options vest over a period of up to five years, and are exercisable 
over a period of 10 years from the grant date. The aggregate number of common shares 
reserved for issuance under this plan shall not exceed 12.5% of the total issued and 
outstanding common shares of the Company from time to time. The aggregate number of 
common shares reserved for issuance at any time to any optionee shall not exceed 5% of the 
issued and outstanding common shares of the Company. The aggregate number of common 
shares issuable or reserved for issuance to insiders of the Company under this plan and any 
other share compensation arrangement of the Company cannot at any time exceed 10% of the 
issued and outstanding common shares of the Company. The option price per share is equal 
to the weighted average trading price of common shares for the five days preceding the date 
of grant during which the common shares were traded on the TSX.  
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10. Share capital (continued): 

(d) Stock option plan (continued): 

Changes in outstanding stock options issued under both stock option plans for the years ended 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as follows:  
 

   Weighted 
  average 
 Number exercise price 

 

Options outstanding, December 31, 2011 307,009 $ 57.46 
 

Forfeited (2,000) 45.00 
Cancelled (1) (305,009) 57.54 
Granted (2) 4,720,000 0.50 

 

Options outstanding, December 31, 2012 4,720,000 $ 0.50 
 

Granted (3) 75,000 0.30 
Forfeited (200,000) 0.50 

 

Options outstanding, December 31, 2013  4,595,000 $ 0.50 
(1) Stock options from the Old Stock Option Plan cancelled immediately prior to the Financing and 

Corporate Reorganization Date. 
(2) Stock options from the New Stock Option Plan granted on August 25, 2012, having an exercise price 

of $0.50; 4,270,000 stock options were granted to key management personnel and 450,000 were 
granted to other employees.  

(3) Stock options from the New Stock Option Plan granted on July 2, 2013, having an exercise price of 
$0.30; all stock options were granted to an employee other than key management personnel.  

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding and exercisable as at 
December 31, 2013: 
 
    Options outstanding    Options exercisable  
   Weighted  Weighted 
   Average  average 
   Years to  exercise 
Exercise price/share  Number expiration Number price 
 
$0.30   75,000 9.5 –   $ 0.30 
$0.50  4,520,000 8.7 904,000 0.50 
 
     4,595,000  8.7 904,000 $ 0.50 
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10. Share capital (continued): 

(d) Stock option plan (continued): 

Stock-based compensation 

For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recorded stock-based compensation 
expense (excluding compensation under the DSU plans) in the amount of $691 for stock 
options granted under the New Stock Option Plan; from this amount, $78 is presented in 
Research and development expenses and $613 is presented in General and administrative 
expenses in the consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive loss (2012 - $398 for 
stock options from the Old Stock Option Plan prior to the Financing and Corporate 
Reorganisation in May 2012, as well as for stock options granted under the New Stock Option 
Plan, of which $57 is presented in Research and development expenses and $341 is presented 
in General and administrative expenses). 

The completion of the Plan of Arrangement resulted in the vesting of all outstanding non-vested 
stock options of the Company’s Old Stock Option Plan, which resulted in an additional stock-
based compensation expense of $251, of which $37 is presented in Research and 
development expenses and $214 is presented in General and administrative expenses, in the 
consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 
2012. This additional compensation cost represents the amount that otherwise would have 
been recognized in the future for services received related to all outstanding non-vested stock 
options immediately before the closing of the transaction.  

The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes pricing model. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share 
price volatility.  The weighted average assumptions for stock options granted during the years 
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, were as follows: 
 

     2013 (1) 2012 (2) 
 
Weighted average fair value of stock options at grant date $ 0.23 $ 0.41 
Five-day weighted average share price  $ 0.30 $         0.50 
Exercise price  $ 0.30 $ 0.50 
Risk-free interest rate  2.03% 1.55% 
Expected volatility  114% 111% 
Expected life in years  7 7 
Expected dividend yield  nil nil 
 
(1) All options were granted on July 2, 2013. 
(2) All options were granted on August 25, 2012, under the New Stock Option Plan. 

Dividend yield was excluded from the calculation, since it is the present policy of the Company 
to retain all earnings to finance operations and future growth.   
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10. Share capital (continued): 

(e) Agreement to issue shares: 

In May 2013, the agreement effective December 1, 2004 with Dr. Francesco Bellini, then Chief 
Executive Officer, to issue up to 7,333 common shares was terminated. The Company did not 
pay any compensation to Dr. Francesco Bellini and did not record any expense or income in 
the consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive loss in regards to the termination 
of the agreement. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company did not 
record stock-based compensation in relation to common shares to be issued to Dr. Francesco 
Bellini, in connection with his execution and achievement of certain specified targets.  

(f) Deferred share unit (DSU) plans: 

The Company has various deferred share unit (DSU) plans for employees and members of the 
Board of Directors created to afford the Company the flexibility to offer DSUs as an alternative 
to cash compensation. 

The price of DSUs is determined by the five-day volume weighted average trading price of the 
Company’s common shares at the time the DSUs are issued, as provided for under the 
respective plans. The DSUs are redeemable only upon the participant’s resignation, 

termination, retirement or death, in cash, at a value equal to the number of DSUs credited, 
multiplied by the 5-day market value weighted average price of common shares prior to the 
date on which a notice of redemption is filed.  

For DSUs, compensation cost is measured based on the market price of the Company's 
common shares from the date of grant through to the settlement date. Any changes in the 
market value of the Company's common shares through to the settlement date result in a 
change to the measure of compensation cost for those awards and are recorded in the 
consolidated statement of loss and other comprehensive loss. 
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10. Share capital (continued): 

(f) Deferred share unit (DSU) plans (continued): 

Changes in the number of units for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as 
follows: 
 

Number of units  2013 2012 
 
Balance, beginning of year  191,102 198,867 
 
Units paid    (10,378)          (7,765) 
 

Balance, end of year  180,724 191,102 
 

Balance of DSU liability, included in Trade and other 
 payables    $ 72 $ 76 
 

The net stock-based compensation expense (income) related to DSU plans recorded in the 
consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2013 
amounted to nil (2012 – $(186), $(16) presented in Research and development expenses and 
$(170) presented in General and administrative expenses). For the year ended December 31, 
2013, 10,378 units were redeemed for $4 (2012 – 7,765 units redeemed for $7). 

 

11. Personnel expenses: 

The aggregate compensation for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, to personnel of 
the Company is set out below: 

 

 2013 2012 
 
Short-term benefits $ 2,325 $ 2,132 
DSU plans income –               (176) 
Stock option plan expense 691 649 
 
 $ 3,016 $ 2,605 
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12. Net finance income (costs): 

Finance income and Finance costs for the years ended December 31, 2013, and 2012, were 
attributed as follows: 
 
  2013 2012 
 
Interest income $ 202 $ 137 
Change in fair value of ABCP Notes (note 7) 499 1,135 
Change in fair value of contingent right from Premium 
 Brands (note 5) 58 –   
Foreign exchange gain 87 –   
 

Finance income 846 1,272 
 
Interest and bank charges (142) (219) 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (CVRs - On  
 receivable from Premium Brands) (note 5) (58) –   
Accretion expense (note 10 (c)) –   (3,566) 
Loss on settlement of convertible securities and change in fair  
 value of embedded conversion option on 2009 Notes  
 (notes 10 (c)) –   (15,751) 
Foreign exchange loss –   (89) 
 

Finance costs (200) (19,625) 
 

Net finance income (costs) $ 646 $ (18,353) 
 

 

13. Other income: 

In 2012, the Company received a $650 payment from Advanced Orthomolecular Research (AOR) 
in relation to the achievement of a pre-established milestone set in the share purchase agreement 
entered into at the time AOR acquired BELLUS Health's wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary, 
OVOS Natural Health Inc., in December 2010.  
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14. Commitments and contingencies: 

(a) Operating leases: 

Minimum annual lease payments are as follows: 
 

 
Less than one year   $ 130 
Between one and five years  146 
 
     $ 276 
 

The property lease is a non-cancellable lease, with rent payable monthly in advance, which 
expires on January 31, 2016. 

During the year ended December 31, 2013, an amount of $162 was recognized as an expense 
in the statement of loss and other comprehensive loss in respect of operating leases (2012 - 
$202). 

(b) Indemnity agreements: 

 The Company is potentially liable in relation to the following indemnity agreements: 

(i) Pursuant to an indemnity agreement entered into between the Company and 
Pharmascience in May 2012 as part of the strategic partnership and financing agreement 
(refer to note 1), the Company agreed to indemnify Pharmascience, subject to certain 
conditions and limitations, for all losses which it may suffer or incur, arising out of any debts, 
liabilities, commitments or obligations of any nature resulting from any matters, actions, 
events, facts or circumstances related to the activities, affairs or business of Old BELLUS 
which occurred prior to the effective time of the Plan of Arrangement, including a reduction 
in tax pools under the Plan of Arrangement. No indemnity provision has been recorded by 
the Company as at December 31, 2013. 

(ii) In July 2009, Thallion (acquired by BELLUS Health in August 2013) was party to an 
arrangement pursuant to which it effectively sold its tax attributes to Premium Brands 
Holding Corporation (Old Thallion) and Premium Brands Income Fund (Premium Brands) in 
exchange for $8,850.  
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14. Commitments and contingencies (continued): 

(b) Indemnity agreements (continued): 

(ii) (continued): 

Pursuant to an indemnity agreement, Thallion agreed to indemnify Premium Brands and 
Old Thallion, subject to certain conditions and limitations, for all losses which they may 
suffer, sustain, pay or incur arising out of, resulting from, attributable to or connected with 
certain specified matters, including with respect to certain reductions of the tax pools, as 
defined in the indemnity agreement, if such reductions result in the tax pools being below 
$160,000. In such case, the amount of the indemnity would be 5.5% of the amount by which 
the adjusted tax pools is less than $160,000, subject to a cap of $4,425, which represents 
a maximum of 50% of the cash received from Premium Brands pursuant to the arrangement. 
In exchange for such indemnity, BELLUS Health is entitled to the additional cash proceeds 
from Old Thallion equaled to 5.5% of the amount, if any, by which the aggregate balance of 
the tax pools exceeds $170,000, which amount shall be determined in 2016. In the event 
BELLUS Health receives an additional purchase price consideration from Premium Brands, 
it would have to pay 100% of the amount received to the CVR holders (refer to note 5). No 
indemnity provision has been recorded by the Company as at December 31, 2013, as 
management does not expect the balance of the tax pools to fall below $160,000.  

(c) License agreements and research collaborations: 

On February 1, 2006, the Company entered into an assignment agreement with Parteq 
Research and Development Innovations (Parteq), which was amended April 1, 2011 (the 
Assignment Agreement). Pursuant to the Assignment Agreement, Parteq agreed and assigned 
certain intellectual property to the Company for consideration, comprising an upfront payment 
and various deferred payment amounts. The Assignment Agreement also provides for annual 
technology payments, deferred milestone payments and deferred graduated payments based 
on gross revenues to be generated from commercialized pharmaceutical products, as well as 
other than pharmaceutical products, such as nutraceutical or natural health care products. Non-
significant amounts are payable as at December 31, 2013 under this agreement. 

Under the terms of an agreement with the federal Ministry of Industry (Technology Partnerships 
Canada Program), as amended in 2005, the Company is committed to pay the federal 
government royalties equal to 7.24% of certain milestone revenue and 0.724% of end-product 
sales realized from the commercialization of effective orally-administered therapeutics for the 
treatment of Alzheimer’s disease until a limited period after regulatory approval, subject to a 
maximum of $20,540. No royalties have been paid to date under this agreement. 
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14. Commitments and contingencies (continued): 

(d) Consulting and services agreement: 

The payments under the consulting and services agreement with Picchio International Inc. 
(Picchio International) (refer to note 15 (b)) will be $250 in 2014, plus reimbursement of 
applicable expenses for services rendered under the agreement. 

(e) Letter of credit: 

As at December 31, 2013, the Company is contingently liable for a letter of credit in the amount 
of $138, which will be reduced to $50 in 2014. Cash is pledged under this letter of credit and is 
presented as Restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2013. 

In October 2013, this letter of credit was reduced from $465 to $138, and ABCP Notes pledged 
to a bank as collateral for the letter of credit became available for sale. In turn, the Company 
put an additional $88 in cash as collateral to the letter of credit. 

 

15. Related party transactions: 

(a) There is no single ultimate controlling party. 

(b) Dr. Francesco Bellini, Chairman of the Board of Directors, is providing ongoing advisory 
services to the Company under the terms of a consulting and services agreement between the 
Company and Picchio International, wholly-owned by Dr. Francesco Bellini and his spouse. 
The agreement has a one-year term and shall renew for successive one-year terms. The 
Company recorded fees and expenses of $381 for the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 
- $381). 

In October 2013, BELLUS Health entered into divestiture agreements with related parties (refer 
to note 9 (c)). 

Previously, the Company had entered into a license and supply agreement relating to the 
distribution of VIVIMIND™ in Italy with FB Health. The Company recorded revenues of $159 
under this agreement for the year ended December 31, 2013 (2012 - $301). The supply 
agreement was terminated upon the conclusion of the VIVIMIND™ worldwide rights license 
agreement in October 2013. 

In May 2013, the agreement effective December 1, 2004 with Dr. Francesco Bellini, then Chief 
Executive Officer, to issue up to 7,333 common shares was terminated. Refer to note 10 (e). 

(c) The Amended Note was issued to a significant influence shareholder of the Company in May 
2012, under the Plan of Arrangement (refer to note 10 (c)). 

  



 
BELLUS HEALTH INC. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued 
 
Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share data, unless otherwise noted) 
 

 

 73 

15. Related party transactions (continued): 

(d) Key management personnel: 

The Chief Executive Officer, Vice-Presidents and Directors of BELLUS Health are considered 
key management personnel. 

The aggregate compensation for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, to key 
management personnel of the Company is set out below:  

 

  2013 2012 
 

Short-term benefits $ 1,822 $ 1,743 
DSU plans income –   (163) 
Stock option plan expense 664 610 
 

  $ 2,486 $ 2,190 

 

16. Income taxes: 

Deferred tax expense 
 

  December 31, December 31, 
  2013 2012 
 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences $          (621)  $ (28) 
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 621 28 
 

Deferred tax expense $ –   $ –   
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16. Income taxes (continued): 

Deferred tax expense (continued) 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate: 
 
  Year ended Year ended 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2013 2012 
 

Net loss for the year  $ (971) $ (13,170) 

Tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate   (261)  (3,543) 

Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences  621 28 
Non-deductible stock option expense  186 175 
Permanent difference on gain on acquisition   (450) –   
Permanent difference on gain on sale of unrecognized assets  –   (790) 
Permanent difference on settlement of convertible securities          –     4,237 
Other permanent differences and other items  (96) (107) 
 

Total tax expense   $ –   $ –   
 

The applicable statutory tax rates are 26.9% in 2013 and 2012. The Company’s applicable tax rate 
is the Canadian combined rates applicable in the jurisdiction in which the Company operates.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities: 

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the 
following: 
 
   Assets   Liabilities   Net  
  2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 

 

Other assets $ 355 $ 70 $   (251) $ –   $ 104 $ 70 
Investments in ABCP Notes –   –   (100) (57) (100) (57) 
Credit facilities –   –   (4) (13) (4) (13) 
 

Tax assets (liabilities) 355 70 (355) (70) –   –   
 

Set off of tax (355) (70) 355 70 –   –   
 

Net tax assets  
(liabilities) $ –   $ –   $ –   $ –   $ –    $ –   
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16. Income taxes (continued): 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued) 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets: 

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the amounts and expiry dates of tax attributes and temporary 
differences for which no deferred tax assets was recognized were as follows: 

 
                                                                 December 31, 2013             December 31, 2012  
             Federal (1)   Provincial(1)            Federal     Provincial 
        $           $                     $                   $ 
Research and development expenses, without time  

limitation          3,477    5,906                    81             106 
 
Federal research and development investment 

tax credits 
2028       140 –   –   –   
2029       305 –   –   –   
2030          190 –   –   –   
2031      218 –   –   –   
2032       71 –   16 –   
2033      6  –   –   –   
      930 –   16 –   
 

Tax losses carried forward 
2029       814 550 –   –   
2030          3,664 3,212  –   –   
2031       73 –   –   –   
2032       3,892 3,910 3,788 3,789 
2033      7,105 7,105 –   –   
      15,548 14,777 3,788 3,789 

 
Other deductible temporary   
 differences, without time limitation     16,432 16,416 21,781 21,759 
 

 

(1) Unrecognized tax attributes of Thallion generated from its business through August 15, 2013 were 
acquired by BELLUS Health on August 15, 2013 (refer to note 5); the change of control triggered a 
deemed year-end for Thallion. 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect to these items because it is not probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can utilize the benefits 
therefrom. The generation of future taxable profit is dependent on the successful commercialization 
of the Company’s products and technologies. 

 
  



 
BELLUS HEALTH INC. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued 
 
Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share data, unless otherwise noted) 
 

 

 76 

17. Loss per share: 
 

  Year ended Year ended 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2013 2012 

 

Basic and diluted loss per share: 
Basic weighted average number of  

common shares outstanding 47,426,358 32,326,383 

 
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.02) $        (0.41) 
 

Included in the basic weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period prior to the 
Financing and Corporate Reorganization Date in 2012 are the preferred shares, as they were 
automatically convertible into common shares at maturity, if not before. 

Included in the basic weighted average number of shares outstanding for the year ended 
December  31, 2012 are 4,666 of the total 7,333 common shares to be issued to Dr. Francesco 
Bellini at that date upon achievement of specified performance targets (and which agreement was 
terminated in May 2013, refer to note 10 (e)).  

Diluted loss per share is not presented as the effect of the Amended Note, the Pharmascience 
Exchange Right and the stock option plan would be anti-dilutive. The Amended Note, the Exchange 
Right and the stock option plan could potentially be dilutive in the future.  

 

18. Segment disclosures: 

(a) Business segment: 

The Company operates in one business segment, the development of drugs for health 
solutions. As at December 31, 2013, the Company’s operations are conducted in Canada.  

(b) Significant sources of revenue: 

In 2013, 68% of revenues came from the agreements entered into with Auven Therapeutics 
(2012 – 79%), and 24% came from the agreements entered into with FB Health (2012 – 13%) 
(refer to note 9). 
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19. Capital disclosures: 

The Company’s objective in managing capital is to ensure a sufficient liquidity position to market 
its technologies and product candidates, to finance its research and development activities, general 
and administrative expenses, working capital and overall capital expenditures. 

Since inception, the Company has financed its liquidity needs primarily through public offerings of 
common shares, private placements, issuance of convertible notes, a sale of non-controlling 
interest, asset sales, as well as a sale-leaseback transaction. When possible, the Company tries 
to optimize its liquidity needs by non-dilutive sources, including research tax credits, grants, interest 
income, as well as with proceeds from the collaboration and research agreements, asset sales, 
supply agreements or product licensing agreements. 

Historically, when the Company had the option, it has settled its obligations through the issuance 
of common shares instead of in cash, in order to preserve its liquidities to finance its operations 
and future growth.  

On May 25, 2012, Old BELLUS entered into a strategic partnership and financing agreement with 
Pharmascience (refer to note 1). 

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had an Amended Note in the amount of $8,744 
classified in Other equity in the consolidated balance sheet, with a notional value of $10,930 (refer 
to note 10 (c)). On maturity, BELLUS Health may require that the Amended Note be paid in common 
shares of the Company. 

The Company defines capital to include total shareholders’ equity, including the Amended Note.  

The capital management objectives remain the same as for the previous fiscal year. 

As at December 31, 2013, cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments amounted to 
$15,297. The Company’s general policy on dividends is to retain cash to keep funds available to 
finance the Company’s growth.   

The Company is not subject to any capital requirements that are externally imposed. 
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20. Financial instruments: 

(a) Financial instruments - carrying values and fair values:  

Fair value estimates are made as of a specific point in time, using available information about 
the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and may not be determined 
with precision. A three-tier fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair 
value. These tiers include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active 
markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either 
directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or 
no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.  

Financial assets and liabilities fair valued on a recurring basis as at December 31, 2013 and 
2012 are the investments in ABCP Notes, the investment in FB Health, the contingent right 
from Premium Brands (presented in non-current Other assets in the consolidated balance 
sheet) and contingent consideration (presented in non-current Financial liabilities - CVRs in the 
consolidated balance sheet) from the acquisition of Thallion in August 2013, as well as the 
embedded conversion option on 2009 Notes, which were settled in 2012 as part as the strategic 
partnership and financing agreement (refer to note 10 (c)); these classes of financial 
instruments were measured using Level 3 inputs, except for ABCP Notes. Starting with the 
period ended June 30, 2013, the class of financial instruments related to ABCP Notes was 
reclassified to Level 2 from Level 3 measurement as the remaining instruments in this class 
are now all measured using broker/dealer quotes which are considered to be directly or 
indirectly observable inputs (Level 2). 
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20. Financial instruments (continued): 

(a) Financial instruments - carrying values and fair values (continued):  

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the reconciliation of the beginning and 
ending balance of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using 
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) (and for ABCP Notes, measured using Level 3 in prior 
periods and now measured using directly or indirectly observable inputs (Level 2)) is as follows: 
 
                                                                   Investments                                 Contingent       Contingent  
                                                                         in ABCP   right from conside- 
                                                                        Notes and       Investment Premium ration 
                                                             Restricted cash     in FB Health Brands (CVRs) 
 

Balance as at December 31, 2012 $     6,547 $    –   $         –   $ –   
 
Acquired through the license agreement 
 with FB Health ( (note 9 (c) (ii))   –                   184     –    –   
Acquired (assumed) from Thallion 
 acquisition (note 5)   –                      –     875  (945) 
Proceeds         (80)     –      –   –  
Exercise of put option on a credit facility   

(note 7)    (1,805)                    –              –   –  
Foreign exchange gain      54          –   –   –  
Total gain (loss) included in income  
 (reported as change in fair value)     220          –   58  (58) 
Total gain included in other comprehensive 
 income (reported as change in fair value)       –          22  –   –  
Transfer to Level 2    (4,936)        –   –   –  
 
Balance as at December 31, 2013 $      –            $      206 $      933          $  (1,003) 

 
 

   Investments Embedded 
   in ABCP conversion 
   Notes and option on 
   restricted cash 2009 Notes 
 

Balance as at December 31, 2011   $ 6,006 $ (2,670) 
 

Proceeds       (551)  –   
Foreign exchange loss    (43)  –   
Total gain included in income (reported as  
 change in fair value)    1,135  –   
Settlement of convertible securities (note 10 (c))   –    2,670 

 

Balance as at December 31, 2012   $ 6,547 $ –   
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20. Financial instruments (continued): 

(a) Financial instruments - carrying values and fair values (continued):  

The amounts presented above as total gain (loss) included in income and other comprehensive 
income attributable to the change in fair value of the related assets and liabilities still held at 
reporting date were unrealized. 

For its financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost as at December 31, 2013, the 
Company has determined that the carrying value of its short-term financial assets and liabilities 
approximates their fair value because of the relatively short periods to maturity of these 
instruments. The carrying value of the credit facilities approximates fair value as they bear 
interest at variable rates.  

 (b) Credit risk: 

Credit risk results from the possibility that a loss may occur from the failure of another party to 
perform according to the terms of the contract.   

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of 
credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, restricted 
cash, trade and other receivables, other assets and investments in ABCP Notes. The Company 
invests cash with major North American financial institutions. Cash equivalents and short-term 
investments are comprised of fixed income instruments with a high credit ranking (not less than 
A-1) as rated by Standard and Poor’s. The Company has investment policies that are designed 
to provide for the safety and preservation of principal, the Company's liquidity needs and yields 
that are appropriate. In addition, other assets in the combined amount of $854 as at December 
31, 2013, relate to one customer. 

As at December 31, 2013, the Company’s maximum credit exposure corresponded to the 

carrying amount of these financial assets. 

Refer to note 7 for credit risk related to investments in ABCP Notes. 

(c) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due. The Company requires continued access to capital markets to support its 
operations, as well as to achieve its strategic plans. Any impediments to the Company’s ability 

to continue to meet the conditions contained in its credit facilities as well as the Company’s 

ability to access capital markets, including the lack of financing capability or an adverse 
perception in capital markets of the Company’s financial condition or prospects, could have a 
materially adverse effect on the Company. In addition, the Company’s access to financing is 

influenced by the economic and credit market environment.  
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20. Financial instruments (continued): 

(c) Liquidity risk (continued): 

The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure, as 
outlined in note 19. It also manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual and 
projected cash flows. The Board of Directors reviews, approves and monitors the Company’s 

operating and capital budgets, as well as any material transactions. 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2013: 
 

    Less   Greater 
  Carrying Contractual than 2 to 3 than 

 amount cash flows 1 year years 3 years 
 
Trade and other payables $ 1,509 $ 1,509 $ 1,509  $ –   $ –   
Credit facilities (1)  5,188  5,427  104  5,323  –   
Contingent consideration (CVRs - On 

receivable from Premium Brands) (2) 933 –   –   –   –   
Contingent consideration (CVRs - On 

ShigamabTM future revenues) (3) 70 70 –   –   70 
Contingent consideration (CVRs - On 
 future revenues from assets develo- 

ped by Caprion Proteomics Inc.) (4) –   –   –   –   –   
 
  $ 7,700 $ 7,006 $ 1,613 $ 5,323 $ 70 
 

(1) Assuming interest calculated at the interest rate in effect at the balance sheet date and notional 
repayment based on available renewal options of the Company. The cash exposure for the Company 
is the difference between the outstanding amount of the credit facilities and the proceeds from the 
sale of the ABCP Notes. 

(2) Assuming the Company receives in 2016 the additional purchase price consideration from Premium 
Brands estimated by management to amount up to $1,450, it would have to pay 100% of the amount 
received to the CVR holders. Amount represents the fair value of the contingent liability as at 
December 31, 2013 (refer to note 5). As the contingent consideration and contingent right are of the 
same amount, there is no cash exposure for the Company. 

(3) Assuming ShigamabTM generates revenues in the future, BELLUS Health shall pay to CVR holders 
their pro rata share of 5% of the ShigamabTM revenue generated or received by BELLUS Health, 
capped at $6,500. Amount represents the fair value of the contingent liability as at December 31, 2013 
(refer to note 5). 

(4) BELLUS Health shall pay to CVR holders 100% of future revenues from assets developed by Caprion 
Proteomics Inc. No value has been attributed to this contingent liability as the Company does not 
expect to receive any revenue from these assets in the future (refer to note 5).  
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20. Financial instruments (continued): 

(d) Foreign currency risk: 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency risk is limited to 
the portion of the Company’s business transactions denominated in currencies other than 

Canadian dollars. The Company’s exposure relates primarily to changes in the Canadian dollar 
versus the US dollar exchange rate. For the Company’s foreign currency transactions, 

fluctuations in the respective exchange rates relative to the Canadian dollar will create volatility 
in the Company’s cash flows and the reported amounts for revenue and expenses in its 

consolidated statements of loss and other comprehensive loss. Additional variability arises 
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the 
Canadian dollar at the rates of exchange at each balance sheet date, the impact of which is 
reported as a foreign exchange gain or loss in the consolidated statement of loss and other 
comprehensive loss. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments to reduce its 
foreign exchange exposure.  

The following table provides an indication of the Company’s significant foreign currency 

exposures, from exposure to the US dollar, as at December 31, 2013: 
 

   December 31, 
(in Canadian dollars)   2013 
       
Cash and cash equivalents        $   420 
Prepaid expenses and other assets     596 
Other assets      258 
Trade and other payables      (228) 
Credit facilities      (82) 
 
    $ 964 
 

Based on the Company’s foreign currency exposures noted above, a variation of 10% in the 
foreign currency exchange rate would not significantly impact income, assuming that all other 
variables remain constant. 
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20. Financial instruments (continued): 

(e) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.   

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is as follows: 
 

 
Cash and cash equivalents Short-term fixed and variable interest rate 
Short-term investments Short-term fixed interest rate 
Investments in ABCP Notes Short-term fixed interest rate 
Restricted cash Short-term fixed interest rate 
Credit facilities Short-term variable interest rate 
 
 

Based on the carrying amount of variable interest-bearing financial instruments as at December 
31, 2013, an assumed 1% increase or 1% decrease in interest rates during such period would 
have had no significant effect on income. 

Management believes that the risk that the Company will realize a loss as a result of the decline 
in the fair value of its cash equivalents and short-term investments is limited because these 
investments have short-term maturities and are generally held to maturity. 

 The capacity of the Company to reinvest the short-term amounts with equivalent returns will be 
impacted by variations in short-term fixed interest rates available in the market. 

Interest income presented in the consolidated statements of loss and other comprehensive 
loss represents interest income on financial assets classified as loans and receivables. 

 

 

 



 

Certain statements contained in this document, other than statements of fact that are independently verifiable at the date hereof, may constitute 
forward-looking statements. Such statements, based as they are on the current expectations of management, inherently involve numerous risks and 
uncertainties, known and unknown, many of which are beyond BELLUS Health Inc.’s control. Such risks include but are not limited to: the ability to 
obtain financing, the impact of general economic conditions, general conditions in the pharmaceutical industry, changes in the regulatory environment 
in the jurisdictions in which BELLUS Health Inc. does business, stock market volatility, fluctuations in costs, changes to the competitive environment 
due to consolidation, achievement of forecasted burn rate, potential payments in relation to indemnity agreements, achievement of forecasted clinical 
trial milestones, and that actual results may vary once the final and quality-controlled verification of data and analyses has been completed. In addition, 
the length of KIACTA™ Phase III Confirmatory Study is dependent upon many factors including clinical sites activation, patient enrolment rate, patient 
drop-out rate and occurrence of clinical endpoint events. Consequently, actual future results may differ materially from the anticipated results 
expressed in the forward-looking statements. The reader should not place undue reliance, if any, on any forward-looking statements included in this 
document. These statements speak only as of the date made and BELLUS Health Inc. is under no obligation and disavows any intention to update or 
revise such statements as a result of any event, circumstances or otherwise, unless required by applicable legislation or regulation. Please see BELLUS 
Health Inc.’s public fillings including the Annual Information Form for further risk factors that might affect BELLUS Health Inc. and its business.
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